

Extracting Cultural Resources: The Exploitation and Criminalization of Uyghur Cultural Heritage



Table of Contents

Executive Summary	2
Intangible Cultural Heritage and the International Cultural Rights Regime	4
China and Intangible Cultural Heritage	7
The Muqam: Officially Enshrining Classical Uyghur Music	11
The Meshrep- Threatened by Whom?	14
Music and Dance	18
Shrines and Shrine Festivals- Forbidden Uyghur Intangible Cultural Heritage	26
Ethnic Crafts and the Tourism Industry.	31
Traditional Uyghur Building Techniques.	37
The Uses of Folklore.	41
Conclusion.	44
Recommendations	47
Acknowledgments	49
Citations	50

Executive Summary

The government of the People's Republic of China has always reserved the right to control the cultural expression of its citizens and has perceived cultural production as an important tool for maintaining power. In recent years the increase of control over the cultural realm has followed the same path as the retrenchment of the Chinese Communist Party (CCP) in other parts of Chinese society. Uyghur cultural expression, like other aspects of Uyghur society, has come under even greater pressure than in past decades as the government increases its attempts to deepen control over East Turkestan through a center-led economic development campaign and assimilationist agenda.

This report will examine the history of government control of Uyghur cultural expression and the narrowing of room for Uyghurs to take the lead in developing their own traditions in recent years using the concept of intangible cultural heritage (ICH). Intangible cultural heritage encompasses those aspects of cultural expression which do not include the artworks and monuments traditionally thought of as cultural heritage, such as music, dance, craftsmanship and oral history. The concept was given an international platform when the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) instituted two lists to promote and protect ICH internationally- the Representative List of the Intangible Cultural Heritage of Humanity and the List of Intangible Cultural Heritage in Need of Urgent Safeguarding. The Chinese government enthusiastically embraced the concept, and submitted an element of Uyghur ICH to each list, namely the Muqam, suites of Uyghur classical music, and the Meshrep, a traditional event which served as a platform for a wide variety of Uyghur cultural expressions including music, dance, and oral history.

UNESCO's intangible cultural heritage program is intended to contribute to its mission to facilitate cross-cultural understanding while maintaining cultural diversity. However, China's treatment of minority cultures casts its commitment to these principles into doubt. China's official policy does not approach these cultures in the spirit of mutual respect. Instead, China utilizes the UNESCO lists to gain international recognition of minority cultures, such as the Uyghurs', as small parts of *Chinese* national heritage, allowing them to take only narrow officially defined forms.

On the national level, the Chinese government has used the concept of ICH to shape its policies towards traditional cultural expression, with a strong center-led focus and significant input from experts rather than the bearers or performers of cultural heritage. This contravenes the spirit of the UNESCO program which advocates centering communities and heritage bearers. Official Chinese policy states that ICH must help strengthen national unity and socialist values and serve as a tool for increasing national prestige and strength as defined by the Communist Party. The numerous laws and regulations on the preservation of ICH and the system of supporting and educating heritage bearers allow micromanagement of Uyghur cultural expression down to the grassroots level.

The official narrative regarding Uyghur culture is that the government is supporting cultural production though its ICH program and raising the cultural level of rural areas by sending official troupes to perform there, and that official policies are preserving Uyghur culture in the face of threats, namely the infiltration of religious extremism and hostile foreign forces. This justifies government management of Uyghur cultural expression. Official policy is highly focused on the use of Uyghur traditions as "cultural resources" which can be utilized to grow the tourism industry, which has become an important part of the center-led economic development plans. Its growth facilitates the movement of Han Chinese into the region as both short-term visitors and labor for the growing industry and provides additional justification for the repressive securitization policies, aimed at creating an impression of "stability."

The government's repressive policies on freedom of speech, religion and assembly mean that Uyghur artists are not free to perform and develop their cultural industries on their own terms, and the Uyghur public is not free to participate in traditional cultural events or maintain the significance of traditional practices. This can be seen in the banning of shrine festivals and prevention of shrine pilgrimages, an important manifestation of Uyghur religious practice, as well as the transformation of the meshrep from a community-based activity into a vehicle for CCP propaganda. This means that Uyghur culture is being transformed into nothing more than the symbolic diversity of clothing and dance enforced by authorities from above even as the government's assimilative policies intensify.

This campaign is taking the form of pressuring Uyghurs to publicly perform modern dances, sing Communist "Red Songs," wear pseudo- traditional Chinese hanfu robes, and celebrate Chinese New Year. This is taking place against the backdrop of a massive crackdown, including the imprisonment of tens of thousands of Uyghurs in re-education camps. The government defines cultural expression of Uyghurs in everything from music and dance to clothing and architecture and is marginalizing Uyghur culture in a way that parallels their economic and political marginalization. Controlling or forbidding traditional or Uyghur-led cultural expressions are not only a violation of individual rights to free speech, assembly, and religion, but are also violations of their cultural rights, threatening the ability of Uyghurs to define and maintain their own identity.

Intangible Cultural Heritage and the International Cultural Rights Regime

As its name suggests, the concept of intangible cultural heritage refers to those traditional arts and cultural practices distinct from physical places and objects. It encompasses everything from the performing arts, oral history, festivals, food, and traditional crafts. The concept was developed out of a desire to not privilege monumental works architecture and works of art as a culture's heritage, as well as fears that modernity and globalization would have a homogenizing effect on local cultures, making it difficult for them to maintain their traditional performing arts and craftsmanship. The earliest forms of state-sponsored protection for these forms of cultural heritage come from East Asia; in 1950 Japan passed a law to extend "government recognition and support to those traditions that embodied its national cultural patrimony." 1

The concept spread to other nations and eventually to the United Nations, where awareness of the need to protect not only natural and manmade monuments but also intangible cultural production took hold in the 1990s. In the 1970s work was done on the possibility of extending copyright protection to "folklore," but the earliest recognition UNESCO officially extended to the concept of protecting traditional cultures was the 1989 Recommendation on the Safeguarding of Traditional Culture and Folklore. However, at an international conference in 1999, the Recommendation was found to be "a somewhat ill-construed, 'top-down,' state-oriented, 'soft' international instrument that defined traditional culture in essentialist, tangible, archival terms" with little impact on cultural practitioners, according to Richard Kurin. The conference recommended that the concept be moved toward a view of cultural traditions as "living' and enacted by communities." To that end the emphasis shifted to paying "attention not just to artefacts, but above all to persons," who enact processes which "provide living communities with a sense of continuity with previous generations and are important to cultural identity, as well as to the safeguarding of cultural diversity and creativity of humanity."

The concept of intangible cultural heritage is not exclusively designed to protect the culture of ethnic minorities, but it is closely connected to the goal of doing so. Acknowledgement of the need for protection of the cultural rights of minority communities had been present from the beginning of the development of international human rights law. The right of everyone "to freely participate in the cultural life of the community," including by enjoying the arts, as well as the right to the "protection of moral and material interests" of artistic production was first stated in Article 27 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR) and restated in Article 15 of the International Covenant of Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR), and in Article 27 of the International Covenant of Civil and Political Rights; in both of these covenants cultural rights are framed as belonging to individuals, to be protected at the state level. The 1991 revised reporting guidelines of ICESCR requires state parties to provide information on the "cultural heritage of national ethnic groups and minorities and of indigenous peoples' and mankind's cultural heritage," demonstrates a shift toward a more subnational focus. The 1992 UN Declaration of the Rights of Persons Belonging to National or Ethnic, Religious and Linguistic

Minorities requires parties to create "favorable conditions" to enable minorities to develop and express their "culture, language, religion, traditions and customs."

The 2001 UNESCO Declaration on Cultural Diversity re-emphasized the principles of Article 27 of the UDHR and Article 15 of the ICESCR, stating that "[c]ultural rights are an integral part of human rights, which are universal, indivisible and interdependent... All persons have therefore the right to express themselves and to create and disseminate their work in the language of their choice, and particularly in their mother tongue; all persons are entitled to quality education and training that fully respect their cultural identity; and all persons have the right to participate in the cultural life of their choice and conduct their own cultural practices, subject to respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms." The UNESCO Convention on the Protection and Promotion of the Diversity of Cultural Expressions, adopted in 2005, takes into account "the importance of the vitality of cultures, including for persons belonging to minorities and indigenous peoples, as manifested in their freedom to create, disseminate and distribute their traditional cultural expressions and to have access thereto, so as to benefit them for their own development," however it reaffirms the principle of sovereignty, maintaining the state as the actor that implements policies to protect cultural rights.

The 2003 UNESCO Intangible Cultural Heritage Convention established the current international framework of international ICH protection. ¹⁰ It divides ICH into five "domains:" Oral traditions and expressions, including language as a vehicle of intangible cultural heritage, performing arts, social practices, rituals and festive events, knowledge and practices concerning nature and the universe, and traditional craftsmanship. ¹¹ However, states are free to use different domains. The two UNESCO lists of intangible cultural heritage, the Representative List of the Intangible Cultural Heritage of Humanity and the List of Intangible Cultural Heritage in Urgent Need of Safeguarding, emerged out of the desire to maintain cultural diversity and increase awareness of the less concrete expressions of culture.

Much of the criticism around the current international regime of intangible heritage protection was developed by anthropologists like Barbara Kirshenblatt-Gimblett, who said that the ICH system allows state parties to "define and identify the cultural assets on their territory by creating inventories," lists which exist to glorify their national cultures instead of creating a system to allow bearers of culture to maintain tradition. These lists inevitably change the how heritage is performed; by designating certain cultural practices as 'heritage' and integrating them into economic development via cultural tourism, "they can be brought into line with national ideologies of cultural uniqueness and modernity." The cultural expression of groups such as the Uyghurs can be transformed into marketable items. There is a threat that cultural heritage practices become divorced from the context that produced them when placed on the list.

The issue Uyghurs face in regards to their intangible cultural heritage is threefold: the government's listing of Uyghur ICH as Chinese national heritage and its use as a tool to further

Chinese national interests is appropriative; the fact that the government only permits cultural expression within narrow parameters defined by the Party, meaning Uyghurs are not free to define and develop their own culture for themselves; and lastly the official assertion that distinctly Chinese traditions belong equally to the Uyghurs and encouraging them to participate in them under coercive circumstances is an imposition aimed at assimilating them into the "Chinese nation" (zhonghua minzu). As one critic, Lucas Lixinski, pointed out, because the UNESCO Convention operates on the level of states, it "is incapable of offering remedies for misappropriation by third parties, particularly when the third party is the state." By placing the responsibility of identifying and protecting ICH on the state parties, the Convention might facilitate their erasure through appropriation and government control instead of preserving cultural diversity as it intends.

China and Intangible Cultural Heritage

In the world today, all literature and art belong to definite classes and are geared to definite political lines. There is no such thing as art for art's sake, art that stands above classes or art that is detached from or independent of politics.

Mao Zedong made the above assertion in his famous Yan'an Talks on Art and Literature in 1942, ¹⁵ laying out the principles for what would become the government-dominated art policy that would persist in Chinese society for decades to come. After reform and opening, it at first appeared that the profit motive would become the primary driving force of the Chinese art world. This would affect performing arts troupes and other institutions where minority arts were to an extent allowed to be preserved- the troupes had to show that they were capable of supporting themselves, and performing artists outside the official groups were given the opportunity to find an audience. ¹⁶

However, Xi Jinping is reasserting the Communist Party's leadership over the realm of culture. In his October 2014 speech to the Beijing Forum on Literature and Art, he also dismissed "art for art's sake," and asserted that artists should not blindly follow the profit motive but consider ideology in their work. They must simultaneously utilize elements of traditional Chinese culture and create works that will appeal to a worldwide audience. The speech laid out the importance that culture will play in the "rejuvenation of the Chinese nation," taking "patriotism as a theme, leading the people to establish and maintain correct views of history, nationality, statehood, and culture while firmly building up the integrity and confidence of the Chinese people."

Uyghur artists working in fields that fall under the umbrella of "intangible cultural heritage" have in the past managed to preserve some degree of an authentic Uyghur voice and control over their own heritage under the rule of the Communist Party. This can be seen in the canonization of the Twelve Muqam, and to some degree in the study of the Meshrep, the two internationally recognized items of Uyghur intangible cultural heritage. However, as this report will argue, it is becoming increasingly difficult to sustain any degree of independence from the government's use of ICH for its own ends.

China has long used the UNESCO cultural and natural heritage lists to enhance its international prestige. ¹⁹ China enthusiastically embraced the concept of intangible cultural heritage from its inception and is perhaps the most enthusiastic supporter of the concept on the international stage. It has sought the recognition of the international community though the UNESCO Representative List of Intangible Cultural Heritage and the List of Intangible Cultural Heritage in Need of Urgent Safeguarding, and now has more entries on the lists than any other nation at thirty-nine. ²⁰ Among these are several significant elements of Uyghur intangible cultural heritage, the muqam and the meshrep.

Tracey L.D. Lu argues that in much of the 20th century the Chinese government saw traditional festivals and local beliefs as backward. A desire for modernization led them to be forbidden by local governments, a mindset that still lingers in government policies towards ICH.²¹ During the CCP's process of classifying ethnic groups, elements of what now would be termed intangible cultural heritage were used as tools for identification, including festivals, performing arts, and folklore. These were denounced as "Old Customs, Old Beliefs, Old Habits, and Old Ideas" during the Cultural Revolution, a time when Uyghur cultural expression was entirely forbidden. After reform and opening, the new concept of 'cultural heritage' began to replace 'folk culture.'²²

The National People's Congress endorsed the UNESCO Convention in 2004, ushering in an official regime of "intangible cultural heritage with Chinese characteristics." National level ICH legislation emphasizes strengthening socialist values, national identity and unity as a core purpose of ICH management. "The protection of intangible cultural heritage and maintaining continuity of the national culture constitute an essential cultural base for enhancing cohesion of the nation, boosting national unity, invigorating national spirit and safeguarding national unification," as one Politburo member said in 2006. ²⁵

A national level law on ICH was adopted in 2011, creating a national-level strategy for the management of ICH.²⁶ The 2011 law defines ICH and lays out the responsibilities of different levels of government for its support, including the need to fund the surveying, research, construction of museums and cultural centers, promotion and education, and the support of masters or 'inheritors" (chuanchengren). The Ministry of Culture has a special department for the management of ICH and bears this responsibility together with the National Academy of the Arts, academic departments, and regional ethnic committees. ICH items are listed at national, provincial, city and county levels and funded by the corresponding government level. At all levels the process is controlled by the state. Contrary to the principles of UNESCO, 'excellence' is one of the determinants of ICH in China; the ICH department determines which items of intangible cultural heritage will be promoted and preserved.²⁷ This is a continuation of the principle of distinguishing between "the essence and the scrap" first laid out by Chairman Mao in the Yan'an speeches on culture in 1940.²⁸

This attitude has led to a center-led and elite dominated system of identifying and protecting ICH, contrary to the emphasis on local actors and the communities themselves laid out in the UNESCO Convention. Although new actors are emerging locally in the Chinese ICH realm, "a dense web of symbiotic networks between local cadres and scholars" remains, suggesting that China's cultural policy development remains "highly elite driven." Its potential as a tool for economic development though tourism is at the forefront of the thinking of local cadres, who utilize national concepts to further their local interests. The use of ICH for tourism development was endorsed by the Ministry of Culture in 2009, who issued guidance on the promotion of culture for tourism. A 2011 Decision from the CCP Central Committee on culture restates its intention to strengthen the Party's leadership over "cultural work," ensuring that they "have a

comprehensive understanding of our traditional culture so that we can winnow the grain from the chaff, make the past serve the present and bring forth the new from the old." Among the goals of these reform efforts are integrating ICH protection with tourism, "strengthen[ing] education in ethnic solidarity and progress, increas[ing] people's sense of identity with the great motherland and the Chinese nation" and increasing China's soft power. The recent plan to merge the Ministry of Culture and the National Tourism Administration underscores the government's intention to use culture as a resource to serve the needs of the state. All of these goals have politicized and commodified traditional (and modern) cultural expression, including that of the Uyghurs.

In 2014, Xi Jinping became the first Chinese leader to visit UNESCO headquarters, where he emphasized the value of cultural diversity and importance of cultural equality, stating that China had been spreading its culture via the Silk Road since it entered the "Western Regions" during the Han Dynasty.³⁴ There has been an increase in the use of ICH as a tool to promote Xi's signature policy push, the Belt and Road Initiative (BRI). Uyghur culture plays a significant role due to their homeland's position along the historical Central Asian trade routes and at the heart of the BRI plan. According to media reports the Xinjiang Uyghur Autonomous Region (XUAR) has 83 items on the national level list of ICH and 4,359 items at all levels on the regional list of ICH.³⁵

Reasserting the CCP's leadership over culture is explicitly linked to maintaining stability in East Turkestan. During CPPCC Vice Minister Lu Zhangong's inspection tour focused on culture, leaders of the XUAR stated that the government was enhancing its ideological leadership and "cultural self-confidence," creating a positive atmosphere to ensure stability, although they admitted the region faced "special challenges and difficulties in 'Telling a Good China Story With Firm Cultural Self Confidence." The Vice Minister asserted that the essence of XUAR's culture was "unity in diversity" and that it was an important part of "the Chinese nation's excellent culture."

Comments by Gao Zhimin, Deputy Secretary of the General Office of the Communist Party, illustrate the utilitarian and ideological attitude of the government towards cultural production. In May of 2017 he stated that under the leadership of the CCP, the XUAR regional government "actively protects and passes on excellent traditional culture, promotes the development of modern culture, safeguards the basic cultural rights and interests of all ethnic groups and continuously improves the cultural identity and cohesion of the Chinese nation," however all this is threatened by the infiltration of "hostile foreign forces and religious extremists." This serves to justify strict government control over cultural production, including at the grassroots level, and increased ideological campaigns. He went on to assert that the local media and cultural system should be utilized for external propaganda to promote the Belt and Road Initiative, that efforts to "fully excavate Xinjiang's cultural resources and potential" must be made, and that cultural industries should contribute to economic growth.

The regional departments in charge of culture see artists and performers as an important part of ideological work. In April of 2017 the deputy secretary of the XUAR Ministry of Culture Muhter Mehsut said that all cultural workers have a duty to help maintain stability. He said that minority cadres have a particular duty to be "guardians of national unity," and that the Ministry of Culture will help artists of all ethnic groups create programs which promote "deextremification" and national unity, to guide the masses utilizing proper education against religious extremist thought. This serves to illustrate the CCP's attitude towards culture in general and Uyghur culture in particular. The government frames its interventions in Uyghur culture as "saving" it and uses this to justify thorough control of Uyghur cultural production.

The Muqam: Officially Enshrining Classical Uyghur Music

Submitted to UNESCO as the "Xinjiang Uyghur Muqam," the suite of classical music known as the Twelve Muqam was the first piece of Uyghur intangible cultural heritage to be inscribed on UNESCO's list of representative works. The term muqam derives from the Arabic term maqam, meaning mode, but in Uyghur use refers to large, fixed suites of songs. As James Millward points out, Chinese scholars often emphasize similarities with Tang dynasty music, or even assert that its origin lies in the Han dynasty, thus portraying the muqam as "a unique cultural achievement of the Uyghur people, realized through a process of mutual interchange with the fraternal Han people." The original introduction to the muqam on the UNESCO website asserted that it is "characterized by variations and continuity of musical patterns, indicating close affinity with the musical culture of China's central plains." Although the UNESCO site no longer has that characterization, it can still be seen on this Ministry of Culture website.

Framing the CCP's oversight of Uyghur cultural expressions such as the muqam as "saving" it from foreign influence and religious radicals as well as the appeal of modern culture is a constant theme in official media. The first work to preserve and canonize the muqam was led by teams of Chinese musicologists working with expert Uyghur performers in the 1950s. However, as musicologist Cheun-Fung Wong points out, "[i]n many important ways, attempts to "collect and rescue" minority music, as innocent and benevolent as they may sound, have often been implicated in China's quasi-colonial encounter with its minority citizens in the modern era, both before and after the Communist takeover in 1949." By creating standardized songs, styles and performances, the muqam project "saved the tradition from its alleged primitiveness." Helen Rees states that these kinds of projects had the objective of "find[ing] raw material that could be drawn on for professional compositions and staged versions of peasant culture, or for propaganda."

The Twelve Muqam (On Ikki Muqam in Uyghur) can be described as the classical canon of Uyghur music, and have great significance as a symbol of Uyghur identity. The Twelve Muqams consist of 30 to 40 songs each, and each takes about an hour to play. In addition to the Twelve Muqam there are regional varieties such as the Dolan, Turpan, Qumul and Kashgar-Yarkand muqam, some of which are listed separately on the Chinese national level ICH list; indeed, traditionally musicians would develop their own repertoire which would be passed down to their students. The canonized Twelve Muqam represent an institutionalization of the tradition under the control of the Ministry of Culture. According to anthropologist Nathan Light, the project of editing what became the canonical Twelve Muqam, while having significant Uyghur input, was undertaken "within institutions which removed expressive culture from the control of the performers and excluded many people from the process." During the process some muqam songs had their religious elements removed, a move justified by the editors as politically expedient, for example allowing them to be played on the radio without violating rules against the performance of religious material. These versions are the ones which are performed by official groups like the Xinjiang Muqam Ensemble. In 2003 during a tour of the UK, members

of the ensemble told ethnomusicologist Rachel Harris that their program had been reviewed by the Xinjiang Cultural Bureau and all the religious content removed.⁵⁰

The government has long promoted the official narrative of religious forces such as the Sufi shaykhs suppressing the "song and dance traditions that were the supposed heart of Uyghur cultural tradition," but also allows no performances with religious elements. Amannisa Khan, the Uyghur queen credited with the first canonization of the muqam, is portrayed in a film based on a 1983 play by Chairman Saypidin Azizi as defending the right of Uyghurs to sing and dance against conservative Sufis, despite the fact that Sufism had a tremendous influence on the music of the muqam. The official line is that spirituality is not an important or inherit element of Uyghur music. During the process of canonization, lyrics about romantic love were selected over ones pertaining to religion. Some participating performers were frustrated because the muqam was politicized and transformed into "a fixed repertoire transmitted within institutions," rather than centered on the performer as it was in tradition.



Performance by the official Muqam Performing Arts Troupe © Xinhua

The early efforts to canonize the Twelve Muqam came to a halt during the Cultural Revolution-the muqam was declared a 'poisonous weed' and copies of the edited text were burned. Traditional music in general was condemned- one Uyghur musician recalled Red Guards attending weddings and other events, ensuring only revolutionary songs could be played.⁵³ Only the eight model operas could be performed- the only one to be translated into Uyghur, Legend of the Red Lantern, used musical elements from the muqam suites and Uyghur instruments.⁵⁴ Rachel Harris states that "[p]laying muqam is sometimes regarded as a spiritual, even a physical need," and recounts meeting an elderly folk singer who told her: "During the Cultural Revolution, I was forbidden to sing the muqam, and I could feel it building up inside of me with great heat. Finally, I got on my donkey and rode into the desert. I rode until I was far away

from all people, then I started to sing. I sang all the muqam I knew, and then I went back. If I had not done this, I would have become ill."⁵⁵

After the end of the Cultural Revolution, the freedom to play traditional music returned. The institutionalized preservation of the muqam continues to be the dominant form today, still very much under the control of government bodies like the Ministry of Culture, among the traditional musical forms transformed into "raw musical materials for new compositions and appropriated "minority folksongs" which have worked effectively with political propaganda to fabricate an idealized image of ethnic minorities as musically talented yet politically subservient citizens of the People's Republic."⁵⁶ A ten year plan to preserve the muqam was published in 2005, ⁵⁷ and touted as among the human rights successes by the government. ⁵⁸ It lays out plans to create muqam centers focused on local versions, training and support for elder performers, teaching muqam in schools and international exchange. This demonstrates the state's firm control over how the muqam is transmitted and performed down to the grass roots level.

The Meshrep- Threatened by Whom?

The second item of Uyghur ICH listed by UNESCO is the meshrep, inscribed on the List of ICH Need of Urgent Safeguarding in 2010.⁵⁹ The meshrep can take a variety of forms, but generally refers to gatherings that take place outdoors and serve as a forum for a variety of cultural performances. These include various types of music and dancing, as well as historical recitals, games and joking. There is often a distinct religious element to the events, including telling the histories of Islamic personages and local saints, sermonizing, and moral guidance. The gatherings could be quite large, sometimes involving hundreds of people. Anthropologist Ildiko Beller-Hann describes meshrep as "the institutionalized enactment of community itself; through the transmission of rules between generations young people were taught how to be social, how to submit to the rules of the community."

Traditions in different cities in East Turkestan vary; for example, the Ghulja style was made up of fixed all-male memberships, which differs from the tradition of the southern part of East Turkestan, which tend to be ad hoc gatherings of neighbors. Harris described observing "vibrant living traditions" in the early 2000s, where musicians could earn a good supplementary income performing at meshrep and were not obligated to do hashar (free labor compelled by the state). Instead, the authorities would call upon them to play for visiting officials. The Chinese government put forward the meshrep for the UNESCO list of Intangible Cultural Heritage in Need of Urgent Safeguarding, saying that the tradition was threatened by declining interest in it from the youth due to competition with other forms of entertainment. However, the Chinese state has itself long been the main threat to the continuation of the tradition, beginning with disrupting the communities which held them through farm collectivization and then by completely banning it during the years of the Cultural Revolution. Its revival in the 1980s was led by grassroots groups, but their community-led organizations were eventually put down violently. Today the practice has been transformed into television performances, tourist attractions and government led propaganda events.

Two examiners were appointed to assess China's submission of the meshrep to the list of Intangible Cultural Heritage in Need of Urgent Safeguarding, Rachel Harris and Chon In Pyong. Chun In Pyong noted that inscribing the meshrep on the list could undermine the essence of the form by transforming "spontaneous and improvisatory characteristics" into "a set and artificial form of arts." However he attributed the main threat to the continuity of the practice as the appeal of modern cultural products to Uyghur youth.

In Rachel Harris' assessment the small-scale less formalized forms of meshrep were in no danger of dying out and noted that it was curious that China's submission claimed that the practice of meshrep was in decline compared to thirty years previously, immediately after the end of the Cultural Revolution which had banned traditional practices for decades. The 1980s and 1990s saw a revival of interest among Uyghurs in their traditional music and cultural practices,

including meshrep. China's submission to UNESCO did not mention government restrictions as a threat to the viability of a revival of meshrep.

Harris also cited the shift to Chinese language education in schools, movement of Uyghur communities to make room for development, and restrictions on religious practice and large gatherings as threats to preservation of meshrep. The meshrep has a strong religious element; Harris expressed concerns that the only time the word "Muslim" appeared in the submission was regarding ritual bathing practices, raising concerns that other religious elements like prayers and sermons might not be protected. She also expressed concerns about the transformation of meshrep into "folkloric displays" for the tourism industry, as well as the distribution of funds between official institutions vs. representative inheritors.⁶³

In its response to Rachel Harris, the XUAR regional Cultural Department denied that the bilingual education system and restrictions on large gatherings would influence the preservation of meshrep and stated that "Muslim practices and customs are well respected throughout the practices of Meshrep. However, Meshrep is a space for traditional cultural practices instead of religious practices. The communal prayers and sermons do not take place at meshrep." 64

The "preservation" efforts which the cultural ministry touts consist mainly of filming, categorizing and documenting the events before knowledge of them disappears and supporting professional performances. Those who point out that tourist shows and staged performances by official troupes are not authentic meshrep are not doing so out of a belief that cultural practices should not evolve and change with the times but rather out of concern about the repressive policies which do not allow the practitioners to determine the significance and meaning of their own traditional practices.

UNESCO's state-focused approach is particularly detrimental when it comes to authoritarian states. The development of a culture and evolution of the significance of a cultural expression can only be meaningful in a society which tolerates diversity and freedom of association, ideals which UNESCO supports but cannot enforce on member states. With the rapid development of a tourism industry catering mostly to Han Chinese, and an official fear of unsupervised Uyghur gatherings, much of what Rachel Harris feared has come to pass. News of the meshrep in Chinese official media refers mostly to official state performances, tourist offerings and ideological campaigns led by CCP members. In order to prevent the "infiltration of religion onto campus," universities forbid students from attending "illegal religious gatherings" including meshrep, as a notice posted on the Xinjiang Arts University website states. ⁶⁵ This is also the case in universities outside of East Turkestan, for example Shaanxi Normal University which lists attending meshrep as a sign of extremism. ⁶⁶ Furthermore, refusing to attend "normal meshrep" is also one of 75 signs of extremism on a government list. ⁶⁷

In 2012, Rachel Harris visited a village in southern Xinjiang where she had previously attended meshrep, but the organizers said they "had not dared to organize a meshrep" since her previous visit three years before. One organizer told her "It is a shame. Our young people are not learning how to play meshrep anymore. They don't understand our values, they don't know how to behave." They decided to try to hold one since there were foreign guests, and several hundred people arrived. An hour later the police arrived and told them to stop, and the guests from the county town received calls from their work units telling them the event was not officially approved and they should leave. The interference of the authorities preventing Uyghurs from gathering for meshrep or other reasons has increased since 2009. The Chinese ICH law requiring provincial level approval and a Chinese partner for an overseas researcher to do studies make it difficult to know the current status of the meshrep- it appears it now only exits as state organized campaigns to serve state ends.

Jay Dautcher points out that the official promotion of meshrep for tourism purposes had already begun in the 1990s, as staged events which "blended elements of folk practice with scripted performances by professional entertainers" portraying the meshrep as "sites of leisure and frivolity replete with boisterous games, singing maidens and laughing children." The grassroots meshrep that Jay Dautcher describes in Ghulja in the 1990s had fixed membership groups who would meet regularly "to discuss matters of mutual interest relevant to their communities, to discuss and promote Islamic practice, and to collectively regulate group members' conduct," as well as to engage in philanthropy. Rule breakers would be sanctioned for their conduct inside and outside the meshrep with humorous punishments.

Meshrep became an important social movement in '90s Ghulja, encouraging young men not to drink or do drugs. The practice was banned in April 1995 due to participants organizing and participating in collective actions including discouraging alcohol consumption; fines were levied on those who continued to participate and leaders of the movement were repeatedly detained. The meshrep groups organized a league of soccer teams for local boys. In August 1995, the municipal government announced the field that the tournament was to be held on was needed for military exercises, and tanks were deployed on it. This action led to a protest march; the government responded by mobilizing hundreds of soldiers and detained the meshrep leaders. The day after the demonstration the local television station broadcast a program billed as a meshrep featuring a professional troupe of singing and dancing performers, "a confusing hybrid of musical meshrep, modernization propaganda, and television variety show," according to Jay Dautcher.⁷¹

In February of 1997 another large protest led to a violent clash with the People's Armed Police, leading to the deaths of between 30 to 100 Uyghurs and the arrests of the organizers and thousands of others, followed by dozens of executions. The government fired hundreds of local officials who they blamed for the unrest. The Uyghur chairman of the Regional People's Congress, Amudun Niyaz, participated in a meshrep six months later and condemned "a handful of separatists" for manipulating "this recreation to establish illicit ties... disseminating speeches,

undermining national unity and motherland unification, and for carrying out illegal religious activities."⁷³ He vowed that the government would crack down on illegal meshreps and "actively promote and organize healthy, traditional meshrep" which would celebrate "our new life" and advance Uyghur culture."⁷⁴ As Dautcher notes, the government had not banned grassroots meshrep for promoting illegal religious activities but for inherently being an illegal religious activity.



Ministry of Public Security SWAT Team holding a meshrep in Yarkand, 2017 © Lijian Qianyan

The supervision of people's meshrep attendance and music consumption is an important part of the government's control of Uyghur society at the grassroots. One cadre, who was among the first 200,000 officials to be sent into rural areas in 2014, wrote a memoir in which he recounts "some of the social woes plaguing Uyghur society." He states that attending weddings was part of his job, and that although he attended one with an officially encouraged meshrep, "it is now rare to see meshrep performed in rural Xinjiang due to the influence of religious extremism." Uyghurs are not permitted to organize their own meshrep, but are required to perform them under the gaze of CCP officials. This micromanagement of Uyghur cultural expression is framed as "saving' it. UHRP argues that Uyghurs are only permitted to engage in meshrep in the presence of CCP officials.

Music and Dance

The national level list of intangible cultural heritage includes numerous items of Uyghur ICH beyond the internationally recognized muqam and meshrep. Music and dance are closely associated with minority nationalities in official cultural performances, which often serve to bolster a narrative about a harmonious multiethnic Chinese state and its rule by the CCP.

The widespread Chinese narrative of the history of Uyghur music is China-centric and intended to bolster narratives about Chinese possession of the region since ancient times. For instance, official histories trace Uyghur music's origin back to Western Han officials mentioning "hu music" in their records, followed by the influence of musicians from the West in the Tang court. Uyghur histories, such as one commissioned by the Shah of Khotan in 1854, trace the history of music back to its mythical creator, one of Noah's sons, through ancient Greece, the Arabic maqam (musical modes), Iran and Iraq, and Central Asia, including the mystic poets who wrote much of the poetry that serve as lyrics for the mugam.

Official Chinese narratives emphasize non-Islamic origins for Uyghur dance culture as well. David Brophy notes that the Xinjiang Nationalities Dictionary entry on the sama dance, an item inscribed on China's national ICH list, states that the origin of the word is saman (in English, shaman). The entry goes on to say that it evolved from ancient shamanic dance and has no inherently religious, particularly Islamic, significance, demonstrating that Uyghurs "practice a distinctly local form of Islam that resists assimilation to pernicious foreign standards of Islamic orthodoxy."⁷⁹ However sama is an Arabic term specifically referring to a Sufi ritual of music and dance, traditionally performed in East Turkestan by ashig mystics at shrine festivals accompanied by meshrep portions of the muqam.⁸⁰ Authorities seek to downplay this spiritual dimension, for example excising the Sufi aspects of the Chahargah mugam from recordings by the official Mugam Art Troupe, such as in a 2001 recording where the word "Allah" was replaced with "dostlar" (friends).⁸¹ Brophy says that there were unconfirmed reports that the mayor of Kashgar attended a sama dance where "Allah" was chanted in the traditional Sufi manner; this led to a turn against encouraging the sama dance, and it was banned from locations such as the Id Kah Mosque in Kashgar. 82 Traditional large-scale sama dances performed outside the Id Kah during the festivals of Kurban and Rozi had been forbidden in the late 1990s, "replaced by carefully orchestrated events for middle school children." 83

Sufis are framed in official historiography as oppressive religious authorities who discouraged music and dance. However Sufi rituals revolve around music and dance, which have become impossible to perform or even difficult to study due to government repression. In the early 2000s one Uyghur scholar of Sufism told a Chinese-American researcher that his equipment and the recordings made during research trips had been confiscated by police. The police interrogated him and instructed him not to speak to Americans about Sufi music. Hose Uyghurs still practicing Sufi ritual had to do so surreptitiously; those caught performing, would

be punished with wage cuts and police surveillance, as happened to a group who performed for a Japanese filmmaker in the early 2000s. 85

In March of 2014, Dilnur Abdaulla, deputy chair of the China Dancer's Association, said that religious extremists were compelling people not to sing and dance. That year marked the beginning of a ramped up anti-extremism propaganda campaign in which music and dancing has played a prominent role. State song-and-dance troupes are sent down to the countryside to "promote modern lifestyles and tackle religious extremism." These include instituting "a weekly meshrep to counter extremism," transforming the traditional community event into one where Uyghurs must demonstrate loyalty to the state and to the Chinese Communist Party. The safeguarding program which is part of the meshrep's inscription on the UNESCO list has become a tool in a propaganda campaign. This type of "meshrep" is a distortion of the tradition and calls into question China's commitment to the principles laid out in UNESCO's requirements for preserving intangible cultural heritage items in urgent need of safeguarding, which include ensuring that practitioners of a tradition have leadership in its preservation.



Elderly meshrep inheritors dance to "Little Apple" © Tianshanwang/Zuihouyigongli

The weekly or daily song and dance sessions are not limited to traditional elements or Red Songs. In recent years the Chinese pop song "Little Apple" has often featured in these events, and as a modern pop song it has become part of a repertoire to help promote "development and modernity." Particularly controversial are the images of imams dancing to the tune which have appeared in the Chinese media. The image of Uyghurs performing a combination of new and

traditional dances to a modern Chinese pop song is intended to display their loyalty to the state, rejection of "extremism," and celebration of the benefits of modernity which the state provides. One video, which went viral according to the Chinese media, shows elderly Uyghurs from a Poksam County meshrep cultural group dancing to the song to show that they "won't allow ruffians to disturb our carefree and happy life," and "their desire to enjoy modern culture." The performance also served to promote local tourist attractions such as the local folk culture village and the Yarkand River Wetlands National Scenic Area. One report written by an anonymous Uyghur which appeared in a Hong Kong media outlet acknowledged that the dancing was mandatory, but claimed that locals supported the de-radicalization campaign, including imams who had initially disapproved of the dancing later encouraging their family members to participate and participating themselves.

The authorities have even tried to promote the concept of a "Dolan Little Apple" style of dance, to match the traditional Dolan Meshrep. Massive public displays of the modern dance have been staged in places like Mekit County's culture square. The square, prominently featuring hanbiao columns and Shang dynasty style bronze ding braziers, does not place a particular emphasis on Uyghur culture. The square also serves a use for displays of force by the militarized police, in addition to dancing. 95



A large crowd dances the "Dolan Little Apple" in Mekit County, 2015 © Tianshan

Authorities from a variety of CCP organs organize this type of local cultural performance. For example, the Xinjiang Production and Construction Corp's (bingtuan) Party Committee Propaganda Department work committee arranges dates for activities and for the masses to "spontaneously" dance the meshrep and "Little Apple," ⁹⁶ or put on Chinese cultural

performances of Peking opera to build bingtuan/masses solidarity. ⁹⁷ The People's Liberation Army encourages soldiers to learn folk dances to "make friends with the minority masses." ⁹⁸ Mass demonstrations of Chinese cultural practices are also encouraged by the authorities and organized by officials, for example thousands of "cadres and people of all ethnic groups" gathering to "Sing the National Anthem and Practice Tai Chi" in Yarkand in 2016, ⁹⁹ or organizing tai chi demonstrations by Uyghur high school students. ¹⁰⁰



Bingtuan "Sending Culture to the Grassroots" Peking Opera Performance © Bingtuan Third Division

Music is a popular form of entertainment in Uyghur communities and is one of the most important tools to maintain knowledge of the Uyghur language in the face of its marginalization in the education system and other public institutions. Uyghurs are creating music in modern styles such as rock, pop and rap, but links to classical and folk traditions- both inscribed as national level ICH items- can still be seen, helping ensure that traditional styles remain relevant to modern audiences. ¹⁰¹ In the 1990s mass-produced music cassettes became widely popular, allowing a Uyghur alternative to Chinese-language media to grow. Singers whose songs contained political subtexts drew attention from the authorities, who banned their work and performances. These lyrics were metaphorical- for example Omarjan Alim's song entitled Mehman Bashlidim (I Brought Home a Guest), banned after release, describing a guest who entered the narrator's home and pushed him out into the desert suggests the narrator's view of Uyghur-Han relations: "I brought a guest back to my home/And at the back laid down a cushion/now I cannot enter/the house I built with my own hands." ¹⁰²

One musician, Abdurahim Heyit, was swept up in the recent crackdown and detained without charge in April 2017. He had been under scrutiny from the 1990s, when authorities forbid him from touring, finally completely banning him from recording his songs or performing anywhere but with an official troupe. He declined to appear in televised performances, telling Joanne Smith-Finley "I don't want to play the songs the producers ask me to play...and they won't let me play the songs I want to play!" His recent arrest was also likely due to the lyrics of one of his songs, according to the poet Tahir Hamut, who reported his arrest. His song lyrics were written by others, consisting of poetry published by government approved presses.

Even artists who avoid political subjects have been affected by the ongoing crackdown. Pop star Abalajan Ayup was detained in February 2018 upon his return from a music tour in Shanghai. Abalajan had been making efforts to appeal to a Chinese audience by releasing Mandarin language songs and avoided political topics. One of his songs did however seem to subtly suggest the importance of Uyghur language education, although it also said that Uyghur children should also learn Mandarin. The authorities have not announced his detainment or the reasons for it, though Radio Free Asia recently confirmed it by speaking to police in his hometown.

The lyrics of Uyghur music must be translated into Chinese and submitted along with the scores to the regional offices of the General Administration of Press and Publications and reviewed to ensure they are not "proselytizing" or "pornographic." "New" songs which utilize government-approved traditional folk song lyrics do not need prior approval; these folk songs are published in official anthologies subject to the directives of official censors. Musicians are told to only include positive messages in their music and to avoid "gloomy images." The scrutiny includes not only recording artists but also everyday performers, who by the late '90s were given lists of songs forbidden to play at weddings and other events.

The authorities increased their attention on the lyrics of Uyghur popular songs since the midnineties, and after September 11th equated political song lyrics to separatism and terrorism, leading to an increase of control over cultural products. In 2002 the vice-chairman of the Xinjiang People's Congress declared that the arts were being used to attack China on the ideological front, and were the same group as those conducting "violent terrorist operations." At the end of a concert in the Xinjiang People's hall in 2002, the poet Tursunjan Emet recited a poem that was deemed have separatist undertones, leading the provincial government to undertake a campaign against those who "openly advocated separatism in the name of art." This meant, as the scholar Joanne Smith-Finley pointed out, that cadres once again were "instructed to use politics as the only standard when judging and artistic or literary work."

The Deputy Party Secretary of the XUAR Propaganda Bureau and Secretary of the XUAR Ministry of Culture Party Leadership Group Ren Hua emphasized the cultural ministry's role in combating the "Three Evil Forces" and "Two Faced People," and ensuring that "absolute ideological security" is maintained in the cultural realm. He went on to say that the culture of Xinjiang is characterized by "unity and diversity," and is an "important part of the outstanding

Chinese culture."¹¹⁴ The monitoring of cultural production is undertaken down to the lowest level via Mass Art Centers. While the government presents this as promoting and protecting culture, it also means that cultural works and those that create them are closely monitored, ensuring their works adhere to the Party's policies and ideology.

Given the government's view of culture as a tool to promote ideology, and its need for total "ideological security," it should come as no surprise that the on-going crackdown has affected the Uyghur cultural industry as well. Sociologist Dilnur Reyhan describes how Uyghur produced television and radio shows which were allowed to be broadcast under supervision of the Ministry of Culture have gone off the air. The Ministry ensures that some Chinese contestants are included on talent shows, that they have Chinese subtitles, no trace of Uyghur nationalism, and do not mention Turkey, use Turkish phrases, or advertise Turkish products. Uyghur singing and dancing competition shows had become popular internationally, with contestants coming from neighboring Central Asian countries to participate. The acceleration of securitization under Chen Quanguo has devastated the Uyghur businesses which supported these shows, and the Ministry of Culture did not renew their annual contracts citing the political situation. Those Uyghur programs still being broadcast have taken a more propagandistic tone. Uyghur cultural products' potential appeal to neighboring countries is not being promoted despite the Ministry's plans to try to increase cultural exports.

Even as authorities make it difficult for Uyghurs to organize their own gatherings and performances, they have been increasing official propaganda performances. This often takes the form of official troupes staging shows organized by the Publicity Department (formerly officially translated as the Propaganda Department). One of the stranger uses of performance for propaganda has been "flash mobs," including many in honor of the 19th Party Congress. 117

Performers organized by the regional Publicity Bureau gather at a prominent location such as Tianchi Lake and lead bystanders in singing and dancing, including new interpretations of folk songs as well as newer, more propagandistic songs such as "Our Xinjiang is a Good Place," a song with overtones of welcoming Han settlers to a virgin land. 118

These types of performances serve to create an image of a contented Uyghur population and are aimed in no small part towards tourists. The merchants at the bazaar in Urumchi organize "flash mobs" of Uyghur dancers in ethnic costume, so tourists can enjoy "Xinjiang ethnic folk music while shopping." 119



Red Song contest in Kashgar, 2016 © ZhongguoKashiwang

As Joanne Smith-Finley notes, the Chinese government "has frequently used vocal music as a vehicle for the dissemination of national standard speech (Mandarin) in the hopes that local, regional and ethnic loyalties will transform into national (Chinese) ones. Where minority languages are retained in folk songs, the aim has been to represent ethnic diversity while lyrics stress inter-ethnic harmony." Events promoting official ideology and Mandarin speaking have become ever more frequent in East Turkestan. Singing "Red Songs" has become an increasingly prominent feature of officially staged cultural activities, as in the above photo of a singing competition held in Kashgar in 2016. For a contest in 2017, Han teachers from inland China went to Poskam and "became teachers, helping the music teachers correct the pronunciation of the Uyghur villagers until they could all sing Red Songs in pure Mandarin." 122

The authorities are also increasingly promoting Chinese cultural performances among Uyghur children. In December of 2017 one village outside of Kashgar had its fourth graders perform Peking Opera for a visiting association of Henan businessmen to express gratitude for the 17,000 renminbi worth of winter clothing they had donated. The Chinese classics has become a part of the education of Uyghur children, and campaigns such as "mobile museums" which "resemble mobile propaganda teams" traveling to rural areas to ensure that the official historical narrative reaches even remote areas. History lectures are held in villages across the region on "local, ethnic and religious history" to help people be "more confident in their culture and socialism in the new era." the confidence of the social performance among Uyghur children, and the social



Children perform Peking Opera © ZhongguoKashiwang

The many performance troupes in the PRC have frequently toured overseas since reform and opening, a trend that is accelerating under campaigns to increase China's cultural soft power. Uyghur music and dance performances overseas have become an advertisement for China's Belt and Road Initiative. The government has positioned East Turkestan as the central hub for the overland route through Central Asia: despite trying to prevent the free movement of Uyghurs across the border, Uyghur musical culture suggests ties to neighboring regions, making it a useful tool for the promotion of Xi Jinping's signature foreign policy initiative. Events like

the "China Xinjiang International Dance Festival" and numerous Silk Road themed stage shows are a "strategic move.... combin[ing] cultural and economic exchanges under the ambit of Belt and Road Construction." Shows with names like "China Dream on the Silk Road- the Eternal Meshrep" and "Meshrep Arrives in My Home" are developed as part of a strategy to promote the Silk Road Economic Belt, the overland route of the BRI, attracting tourism and investment. Wealthy Chinese cities like Shanghai are pairing with XUAR TV stations and performing arts troupes to develop cultural industries, including Twelve Muqam themed stage shows, in order to "help ethnic minorities develop their culture and present it in a more refined form on the world stage."

The central Ministry of Culture released a "One Belt One Road Culture Development Plan" in 2017, laying out its strategy to build Belt and Road themed cultural exchanges and "brands" under government leadership. The XUAR Tourism Bureau is also particularly keen to establish a "Silk Road Ethnic and Cultural Brand" with strong government oversight, with a particular focus on the southern part of East Turkestan. The regional cultural development five-year plan calls for the construction of venues for music and dance for "Xinjiang-style, healthy, civilized, and fashionable" entertainment events. The government does not appear to believe that its desire to present a unique "brand" is working at cross-purposes to the assimilation campaigns which threaten to homogenize the region.

Shrines and Shrine Festivals-Forbidden Uyghur Intangible Cultural Heritage

Shrine festivals have traditionally been an important facet of Uyghur religious practice, providing a place to transmit oral history and music. Scholar Rian Thum argues that worship at the shrines, including during festivals, brought people from various cities and oases together, making them a significant part of the formation of Uyghur identity. However, shrine festivals are not recognized by the government as intangible cultural heritage worthy of protection, even though they provide a platform and context for many traditions inscribed on the national ICH list. Indeed, most if not all significant festivals have been banned, while the transformation of some shrines into tourist attractions discourages their traditional role in Uyghur society. The authorities banned the festivals due to their fear of large gatherings of Uyghurs and any religious influence among them, but Rachel Harris suggests the possibility that the authorities also reject on an aesthetic level the "disorderly sights and sounds," and that the music and that rituals performed at them represent "alternative forms of power [which] are antithetical to the modernizing, totalizing mission of the nation state." ¹³⁶

Situated between Kashgar and Yarkand on the site of a 998 AD battle between the forces of the Qarakhanid king Ali Arslan Khan the Buddhist Kingdom of Khotan, the Ordam shrine sits on a significant site in the story of the Islamization of the region. Located dozens of kilometers into the desert, it consists of a tall mast on a sand dune- the mazar (shrine) itself- and a mosque, prayer hall and residence a kilometer away. On the first ten days of the Muslim month of Muharram, the Ordam shrine was the site of a major festival in which tens of thousands of Uyghurs participated, until it was banned in 1997. The festival featured the singing of the muqam and meshrep, singing of hikmat (melodic chants) by ashiqs (Sufi mendicants), recitation of oral history, and the sama dance. Ritual healers called bakhsi would play a mix of secular and sacred music, including drumming which was rare at other festivals. Pilgrims would bury themselves in sand, believed to have healing powers. The sand burial, no longer permitted as part of the rituals at Ordam, has been listed on the Chinese national ICH list as the "Uyghur sand treatment." Instead of being performed at festivals in the context of a sacred site, it is marketed as an experience for tourists.

The Xinjiang Arts Research Unit recorded music at the Ordam festival in 1995, the last time it was held. The festival had only been revived in 1980, after its previous ban in 1958 after the Anti-Rightist Campaign, when it was banned as feudal and superstitious. The shrine was closed to the public and the families of the shaykhs were forced to move away, leaving only one who was required to report unregistered visitors to the authorities; Rian Thum reports that he when he attempted to visit the shrine in 2007 the police detained him and sent him to the county police headquarters, telling him that "there was 'something secret' out in the desert." However, Rahile Dawut reports that as of 2015 some pilgrims still came to secretly pray at the shrine at night. Shrines closed after Ordam include the shrine of Imam Shakir outside of Khotan, which was shut down in 2009 and all religious activity there forbidden. Pilgrims who defied the ban

were fined by the authorities for the crime of "cross village worship," and were required to do self-criticism in front on their fellow villagers so others could learn from their example. 142

In 1997 another festival, held at the Imam Hasim mazar, become more heavily regulated by the authorities, with tickets sold and police overseeing the event, but was not at that time banned. ¹⁴³ It provided an important platform for the performance of dastan, another item on the national ICH list. Dastan are recitations of epic poems with musical accompaniment, traditional among Uyghurs and other Turkic peoples. However, Rahile Dawut and Elise Anderson report that the festival has not taken place since 2013, ¹⁴⁴ and Rian Thum states when he attempted to visit in 2013 police were preventing anyone from approaching it; he joined a small group of pilgrims that was taking the risk of secretly visiting it via a long detour through the desert. ¹⁴⁵ Even as the authorities actively shut down traditional venues for dastan performance, multi-national conferences for scholars are held, suggesting that it is among the many ICH items whose preservation is expert-led rather than community led. ¹⁴⁶ Space for dastanchi to perform is shrinking; not only can they no longer perform at the large festivals but traditional performance venues like bazaars no longer offer space. The requirements of appealing to tourists are changing the nature of the art form. ¹⁴⁷



Festival at the Imam Asim shrine photographed in 2010 © Rian Thum in WSJ

Shrines are not only a place for religious observation during festival days, but are also traditionally visited by pilgrims throughout the year. Rian Thum notes that the reciting of the histories and lives of the saints at shrines has been suppressed by the government, with the texts which record that history confiscated as illegal religious texts now being held as cultural property by official institutions which limit academics' and the public's access to them.¹⁴⁸

Anthropologist Rahile Dawut states that local authorities and commercial interests were debating whether pilgrimage to religious sites should be discouraged as superstition or exploited as a tourism resource following the model of the commercialization of Tibetan religious culture. According to Jay Dautcher, they were being reshaped by the government into tourist sites beginning in the 1990s, with the tourism administration bureau fencing and ticketing the entrance of one mazar he observed in Ghulja. Three shrines, the Afaq Khoja, Mahmud al-Kashghari and Yusuf Khass, together with the Id Kah mosque, have become major tourist attractions in Kashgar, leading mostly Han owned private tourism companies to buy the management rights to other shrines and charge both Han tourists and Uyghur pilgrims to enter. The authorities were conflicted about whether to define all shrine pilgrimage as illegal religious activity and feudal superstition, and as noted above have banned large-scale festivals. Rian Thum observed that some smaller shrines appeared closed during a trip to East Turkestan in 2017. As Rahile Dawut notes, shrine festivals represent a moderate, indigenous form of Islam and thus cannot be reasonably linked to foreign Islamic extremism.

She also notes that the decisions about transforming shrines into tourist attractions are mostly made above the heads of the local people and even the local governments, and "[m]ost benefits of tourism are siphoned away from the local area, so that local people most often feel themselves as outsiders. The history of the shrines is often explained to tourists by Han Chinese tour guides who know very little about the local culture. Misinterpretation of Uyghur culture thus often annoys the local community."¹⁵¹ The festival at the Jafiri Sadiq Mazar may have been the last major festival to survive, with required registration with the police and tickets which could be prohibitively expensive, meaning that as numbers of Han tourists increased, the numbers of Uyghur pilgrims declined. However, Rian Thum found police blocking entrance to the shrine in 2015, saying that it now appears that all Uyghur shrine festivals are now forbidden. 153

The entire village in which the Tuyuq Khojam Mazar is situated was turned into a tourist attraction in 2004, and is framed as a place where visitors can see Uyghurs living a simple life according to ancient customs.¹⁵⁴ The owner of the private company which earns the ticket revenue want to encourage pilgrims, believing the impression of authentic religious practice will attract more tourists, but in the management of the site it engages with higher government offices instead of the local government, shrine custodians and villagers.¹⁵⁵ While Uyghur pilgrims could enter for free, they could only visit the mazar and were not permitted to enter the village. Rahile Dawut proposes instead that tourism income should be used to support the local community and its cultural heritage: "Locals should be provided with opportunities to market their own religious heritage, not simply for commercial purposes, but also as an important means to preserve, revive and above all represent their traditional culture." ¹⁵⁶



"A multi-ethnic crowd dances a cheerful meshrep together" for Chinese New Year © Xinhua

While the most uniquely Uyghur festivals are banned, the CCP authorities appear to be trying to promote the celebration of Chinese New Year among Uyghurs. Chinese New Year, or Spring Festival, is not a traditional Uyghur holiday and its associated customs not performed by the Uvghur population. Media reports from the past several years have highlighted Uvghurs celebrating the festival alongside CCP members sent to villages on "visiting" trips where they conduct Chinese New Year traditions with an assigned family to increase "ethnic unity." For example a 2016 report from the Central Commission for Discipline Inspection describes Uyghurs in Awat country, Aksu, "celebrating the traditional Chinese festival in their own unique way," hanging up spring couplets, red lanterns and "fu" happiness characters, along with dancing in a meshrep, "an indispensable part of the Dolan people's celebration of Chinese New Year." ¹⁵⁸ In 2017, a Xinhua article reported that a "visiting the people" work team would spend Chinese New Year in a village in Kargilik county- normally the mostly Han officials were allowed to return home to their families as is traditional. One official said that while he felt some regret about not being able to return home, he "was happy to spread the flavor of Chinese New Year to the Uyghurs there." ¹⁵⁹ Another village outside of Kashgar held a three day "ethnic unity spring festival celebration," the first time that there was a Chinese New Year atmosphere in the village, according to one resident. 160

The government efforts to promote the celebration of Chinese New Year among Uyghurs accelerated in 2018; this includes unconfirmed reports that this included fines for those who did not post New Year couplets, eat dumplings and perform other traditions. Though building a "Happy Chinese New Year cultural brand" is part of the Ministry of Culture's Belt and Road Strategy, 162 UHRP believes that the campaign aimed at Uyghurs seems intended to assimilate them into Chinese culture.

Many media outlets reported on the festivities organized by CCP officials. In one village in Makit County, a celebration was organized at the social welfare office where elderly Uyghurs made dumplings with officials and watched a performance by children from the Makit County Number Two Kindergarten wearing Chinese costumes and Chinese opera masks. A video produced by Xinjiang Television shows young children performing in Chinese hanfu robes; the television station also set up a number of sub-venues for live New Year celebration performances. The mix of Chinese performances such as lion dances with performances of Uyghur items such as the muqam seem calculated to reduce Uyghur performance to one act in a variety show, as in the national CCTV New Year's Gala broadcast from Beijing. As anthropologist Darren Byler points out, the staged photo ops of Uyghurs celebrating alongside Han officials which appeared in large number in the Chinese media during the 2018 Chinese New Year Celebrations are taking place against the backdrop of tens of thousands of Uyghurs being detained in reeducation camps, making it likely that those remaining to celebrate were doing so under duress.



Kindergarteners in Makit County perform for Chinese New Year © Makit Zero Distance

This is in marked contrast to the obstacles which the government places in front of Uyghurs who wish to participate in traditional holidays or religious observances like Ramadan, for example forbidding fasting by students and officials and requiring restaurants to remain open.

Secular holidays such as Norwuz receive a degree of government promotion, albeit not always in a traditional manner, instead serving as another opportunity for the government to organize propaganda events, for example large scale 'sama' dance contest¹⁶⁸ or using it as another opportunity for Party work teams to "educate the masses" and lead de-radicalization activities.¹⁶⁹ The festival of Nowruz is traditionally celebrated by Uyghurs as their New Year festival is also celebrated across Central Asia, Iran and Turkey. This makes it another curious addition to the Chinese national list of ICH.

Ethnic Crafts and the Tourism Industry

The development of the ethnic craft industry can be a route to both increasing household income and preserving skills that would otherwise be lost. This is one of the motivations behind listing so many traditional crafts as items of intangible cultural heritage in China, including Uyghur crafts. While the commoditization of traditional crafts may not be as obviously sensitive as that of tuning sacred sites into tourist attractions- the products craftsmen create are literally commodities- even they are influenced by the repression in East Turkestan and state control over definitions of Uyghur identity. Because the product is not merely a souvenir "but a representation of the ethnic folk themselves," mass produced, or profit-focused state led production, can undermine what makes the crafts culturally significant. Some of these crafts can even become discouraged because of political sensitivities; the preservation of traditional crafts has become symbolic cultural diversity as the government's assimilative policies accelerate.

Uyghurs are among the groups which figure in the minority "folk village" theme parks in wealthy Chinese cities, which sell an ideal of rural life with a veneer of the exotic, "based solely on replication and display of some selected symbols and markers of ethnic exoticism and bear little distinction from folk cultures being promoted and standardized throughout China," as scholars of the Chinese tourism industry Geoffrey Wall and Li Yang put it. ¹⁷¹ Uyghurs are presented alongside dozens of other groups with whom they have nothing in common other than their numerical relationship and comparative "exoticness" to the Han. "Living fossils" is the term often used to describe certain traditional crafts or entire villages. ¹⁷²

Authentic cultural elements of ethnic minorities are distorted in the need to appeal to tourists. Within East Turkestan, Uyghur culture is also set aside in park settings aimed at tourists, as well as in markets for artisans to sell their wares to tourist buyers. The Mekit county Dolan Folk Customs Tourism Street, for example, promises to create a "super large-scale platform for cultural tourism, entrepreneurship and industrial poverty elimination," by promoting businesses engaged in making handicrafts, dried fruit, ethnic clothing and food. ¹⁷³

The provincial tourism bureau is deeply involved in developing projects with the goal of using "folk culture" for poverty alleviation. These projects are aimed at bringing in Han tourists to rural parts of East Turkestan, and often take the form of parks with various attractions, not necessarily utilizing Uyghur culture. For example, the Hannuoyi Cultural Industry Park (汉诺依文化产业园) in Beshgeran County outside of Kashgar, features a "Red Culture" education area where one can experience the time of collectivization including dance, music, and food, juxtaposed with a "National Culture Academy" where visitors can learn about Chinese medicine, calligraphy, painting, music and dance. 174



Above: "Red Culture" education center Below: "National Studies Academy" at the Hannouyi Park in Beshgaren © Kashgar City Net

This is part of the plan to develop "a cultural tourism industry with national characteristics" in Beshgeran County focusing on "experiences" for tourists. Agricultural tourism seems to be where the local Uyghurs figure into the plan, with new housing being built for "farmhouse" tourism and pomegranate cultivation, vineyards and wineries being promoted to appeal to tourists. The plan appears to be highly center-led; as the Hannouyi Cultural Industry Park was under construction the Kashgar Tourism Bureau held an ethnic unity rally in the village where the cadres gave speeches, sang songs with the locals such as "Without the Communist Party There Would Be No New China" and "Unity is Strength," and held an official meshrep. ¹⁷⁶

This problem of culture being reinvented for outsiders, which is a feature of ethnic tourism worldwide, is compounded by the political and economic marginalization that the Uyghurs face;

creating dependence on Han tourism reinforces the political project of Han control of East Turkestan. Even cultural preservation is motivated mostly by tourist demand for "authenticity." What's more, the government argues that the securitization of the region is necessary to create the conditions where tourism can develop, and enlists tourism bureaus in the work of "stability maintenance." Local tour guides were ordered to monitor foreign tourists ahead of a Belt and Road conference, according to a manager from the only tour company permitted to guide foreign tour groups in East Turkestan, the state-owned China International Travel Service. The manager stated that foreigners "asking questions on banned topics," would "cause a lot of problems" for them when reported to the police. Uyghur tour guides face particularly strict monitoring of their political attitudes to ensure that they do not give a negative impression of the political situation to foreigners.

However, instead of creating a feeling of security among visitors, the omnipresence of the security forces leaves an impression that the region is dangerous, hurting those Uyghurs who have come to depend on tourism for their livelihoods. The number of visitors dropped sharply in 2014 to 20 million, but the regional government claims that 2017 saw a 30% increase from 2016 to 107 million, and they hope to again increase that number by 30% in 2018, demonstrating that the region is harmonious and stable, in the words of the latest government work report. The previous year's government work report described the plan for the expansion of tourism, particularly cultural tourism in the southern part of East Turkestan, on the basis of its "ethnic customs and abundant Silk Road cultural resources" and according to a "scientific tourism industry development plan."

Pal Nyriri, a scholar of the Chinese tourism industry, notes that Chinese experts who formulated the plans for the development of the domestic tourism industry saw it not only as a means of increasing employment opportunities, but also a means to raise the "civilization" level of rural areas, exposing their residents to city dwellers with modern lifestyles. An important element in the Chinese state's tourism industry plan is "correctly framed consumption of places as an instrument of the strengthening national consciousness." As Nyiri notes, the government at the "county, prefecture or provincial level…are present as both stakeholders (coowners) *and* regulators in every tourism development project," describing the Chinese tourism industry as a system of "indoctrotainment." describing the Chinese tourism industry as a system of "indoctrotainment."

There has traditionally been a connection between the guilds of Uyghur craftsmen and Sufi brotherhoods, meaning that there has been a spiritual element even in everyday business for the Uyghur people. Each craft had a patron saint, and craftsmen would traditionally gather once a week to commemorate him, similar to venerations at shrines, according to the fieldwork of Ildiko Beller-Hann. Religious tradition was embedded even in everyday business, and each craft had a handbook laying out appropriate rituals as well as the history of the trade.

The government promotes craftsmanship on its own terms, just like every other element of ICH. A book entitled "Ancient Uyghur Craftsmanship," first published in 1988, which discussed

papermaking, carpentry, carpet making and silk weaving was banned and thousands of copies burned, along with numerous other books on Uyghur history in 2002 during a crackdown on Uyghur culture for its supposedly separatist content, perhaps due to the Quranic verses it contained.¹⁸⁷ At least one Uyghur craft on the national ICH list appear to have lost government support, namely Uyghur knifemaking. Many knives for sale as souvenirs are cheap mass-produced ones; artisan-made knives are more expensive. According to one report, knifemakers in Yengisar, the most famous town of the knifemaking craft, were forced to close their shops for a week when a trade fair in Urumchi was going on.¹⁸⁸ One travel writer notes that tourists are only permitted to buy one knife at a time and must ship it home instead of taking it on planes or trains, damaging the business of the Uyghur artisans.¹⁸⁹

Another craft is atlas silk, traditionally an element in Uyghur women's wardrobe and one of the most visible symbols of Uyghur ethnicity. It continues to be made in the traditional manner by professional silk weavers, particularly in and around the city of Hotan. The silk weaving process is on the national list of ICH, as is traditional Uyghur clothing. Government authorities are promoting it as part of its textile industry development strategy, sponsoring fashion shows and other events ¹⁹⁰

Ethnic clothing is closely associated with minority identity in China and is one of the characteristics that was used by the state to distinguish an ethnicity. Academic Anna Hayes states that official presentations of ethnic minorities in the Xinjiang Regional Museum focus on the "otherness' and "beauty" of minority nationalities. The museum's display of Uyghur dress, for example, describes the traditional costumes of Uyghur "Graceful Women and Handsome Men" as "reflect[ing] 'the Uyghur people's free, natural and unrestrained characters." The essentializing nature of official depictions of ethnic clothing may be problematic from an academic perspective, but they are particularly troubling when one considers that the government reserves the right to define this and other aspects of Uyghur cultural identity, and once again frames its interventions in terms of "saving" authentic Uyghur culture.

In 2014 "a small leadership group at the Xinjiang Uyghur Autonomous Region Bureau of Quality and Technology Supervision" in partnership with other offices carried out "standardization work" of ethnic minority dress due to concern over the alleged "disappearance" of traditional Uyghur clothing due to the influence of the Three Evil Forces of "extremism, separatism and terrorism." ¹⁹³ The government has long politicized Uyghur dress, with efforts to prevent the wearing of Islamic dress going back to 2008, including rewards for turning in individuals with "bizarre dress" or long beards and campaigns like "Project Beauty." ¹⁹⁴ The media promotes projects that portray Uyghur clothing as having no religious influence, such as the "100 Years of Uyghur Fashion" video, based on similar projects that became popular on the Internet in western countries. The video shows a model's outfits changing from atlas silk to revealing modern clothing, including a Red Guard uniform to represent the decade of the 1960s. ¹⁹⁵



Xi Jinping presented with a doppa during his 2014 trip to Kashgar © CCTV

The doppa hat and atlas silk are framed by the authorities as genuine traditional Uyghur clothing in contrast to headscarves and other "foreign" items. Officials even occasionally wear one themselves for ethnic unity photo-ops, including Xi Jinping himself. However, even this officially sanctioned apparel is discouraged in some contexts, including banning the wearing of doppa at universities according to some reports.¹⁹⁶

In 2009, a Uyghur student founded a festival on May fifth to celebrate the doppa; despite being initially promoted in the official media, students reported that just a few years later they were being warned by their teachers not to recognize the day by wearing a

doppa.¹⁹⁷ In 2013 a photo circulated on the internet of middle school students being warned not to wear the doppa.¹⁹⁸ Authorities blamed the controversy on outside forces, meaning that individuals who continued to discuss the issue risked being labeled separatists, as a commentator on Uighurbiz.com pointed out at the time.¹⁹⁹ Disputes over the clothing bans have even ended in violence. In May of 2014 the arrest of several girls for wearing headscarves and Islamic dress sparked a protest in Aksu. Police fired on the crowd, killing up to four people.²⁰⁰ House-to-house searches for women wearing headscarves reportedly resulted in the police shooting a family of five in Beshkent village in 2014, leading to further violent clashes with protestors in Yarkand.²⁰¹



Children in Aksu wearing hanfu given by the local working group of the Geology and Mineral Resources

Bureau in 2015 © Tianshan/Zuihougongli

While Uyghur clothing is being discouraged in schools, or only allowed under strict parameters set by the authorities, Chinese clothing is being increasingly pushed on Uyghur students. Hanfu is the pre-Qing style of clothing that died out in Chinese society four hundred years ago, and today is often associated with Chinese ethno-nationalists who believe that the cheongsam (qipao) is of Mongol/Manchu origin and therefore inappropriate as a symbol of Han Chinese identity. ²⁰² This makes it somewhat controversial even within China. However, there have been numerous media reports from various schools showing Uyghur children from kindergarten to middle school wearing "Confucian robes" and hanfu. Events where children recite Chinese classics feature the costumes and are explicitly connected to learning Mandarin, making locals in Aksu "Sing red songs out of gratitude to the Party, and demonstrating numerous ethnic groups' recognition of the mainstream culture of the motherland," in the words of the local United Front Work Department. Hanfu also appears in village anti-extremism rallies, alongside military uniforms, in addition to more traditional Uyghur apparel, during which "everyone dances a happy meshrep." ²⁰⁵

Schools in the region use calligraphy and classical literature to "boost traditional Chinese culture and core socialist values," thereby promoting "China's core competitiveness." "Because Uyghurs are innately gifted in singing and dancing, they can learn Peking opera quickly," said one Han teacher in a kindergarten outside Kashgar, which also has its students wear opera costumes, military uniforms and sing red songs. This promotion of wearing "traditional" Chinese clothes serves an assimilative purpose and are provided by government agencies in at least some cases. When images of Uyghur children wearing hanfu circulated on social media in 2017, some Han Chinese readers found the image of young Uyghurs encouraged to wear hanfu objectionable. It should be noted that wearing hanfu is anything but traditional, it having died out centuries ago.

Traditional Uyghur Building Techniques

Traditional Uyghur building techniques are on the national list of intangible cultural heritage, but the built environment of Uyghur cities is rapidly losing much of its distinctiveness. The demolition of Kashgar's Old Town in 2009 drew worldwide attention; historic monuments such as the Xanliq madrassa were demolished. What stands in its place today is designed to appeal to tourists. Attractions are designed to bolster a narrative of Chinese domination since ancient times, such as a new "Han dynasty" style construction in the Old Town of Kashgar.



New Chinese style construction in Kashgar's old town © Baidu streetview

Architecture is perhaps the most obvious example of the classic understanding of cultural heritage, and some might not seem to fit in the category of intangible heritage.

Nevertheless, the knowledge of traditional building techniques can be thought of as intangible, and indeed traditional Uyghur construction techniques are on the national list of Chinese ICH. The physical buildings and built environment have social significance and demonstrate the artificiality of the separation between

intangible and material cultural heritage. As architectural anthropologist Madeln Kobi writes, "Uyghur-style buildings and interior decoration are of continued relevance for Uyghur inhabitants for performing indigeneity and for manifesting cultural difference from the Han Chinese."²¹⁰

Uyghur building styles are clearly related to Central Asian and broader Islamic architecture in materials and design. The traditional materials of rammed earth and adobe which are well suited to the local climate are rapidly being replaced by the modern Chinese styles designed and built by firms from cities in the east. These buildings serve as a symbol of Han in-migration to many Uyghurs, even if they themselves live in them. Madeln Kobi states, "the political situation in XUAR with a strong state-promoted construction of a housing aesthetic borrowed from eastern China challenges Uyghur architecture to aesthetically and formally remain part of the cityscapes." Traditional Uyghur one or two-story courtyard houses are being demolished "as part of politically motivated campaigns to cleanse inner-city areas of rural migrants," simultaneously depriving them of affordable housing and homogenizing the urban design to appear more like Chinese cities. ²¹¹

According to one observer, the objective of these redevelopment projects is ideological- the "State attacks these inhabited spaces in order to undermine the entire identity associated with

them."²¹² The new "old" neighborhoods with Uyghur facades will accommodate Uyghurs and serve as a tourist attraction, standing alongside Shenzhen-style skyscrapers designed to appeal to the new Chinese residents.

The city of Qumul re-developed a local shrine into a tourist attraction, and despite local objections demolished a large section of the surrounding cemetery to make way for a road. Though the shrine is still considered a holy place to local Uyghurs, the entrance fee is high, discouraging them from performing traditional prayers there according to fieldwork by Ildiko Beller-Hann. The local government also re-constructed the palace of the *wang*, the ruler who served as the local intermediary to the Qing Empire. Locals told Beller-Hann that the original palace, destroyed in the 1930s, stood a kilometer from the reconstruction, whose Chinese-style architecture they saw as inauthentic. Architects were invited to submit designs, but "those proposing exclusively Central Asian Islamic architectural features were rejected." Instead the reconstruction has the features of Chinese imperial architecture whose most famous examples can be seen in Beijing. A Uyghur official from the local Cultural Department told her that the style was meant to blend Han, Mongol, and Islamic styles and represent interethnic harmony.



Reconstructed palace of the Hami King in Qumul © Tianshan

Uyghurs look westward to Central Asia, Iran, and Turkey for the origins of their traditional architectural style. Modern apartment buildings may have nods to traditional elements, but their construction techniques and layout are modern Chinese style. Advertisements for real estate promise the kind of luxury that can be found in Shanghai or Shenzhen in "Spanish" or "European" styles marketed towards Chinese on the basis that Uyghurs cannot afford the prices demanded. Only one development that Kobi observed touted "ethnic elements" such as a

mosque, a performance area for singing and dancing and a street for selling handicrafts and ethnic apparel.²¹⁶

After the first Xinjiang Work Forum cities were paired with wealthy counterparts in the east-Kashgar's major partner is the city of Shenzhen, a manufacturing city that arose in the eighties to take advantage of proximity to Hong Kong. Shenzhen, a city with a history only a few decades long, represents Chinese modernity and export-led development, which the government hopes to replicate in East Turkestan. Wealthy coastal cities are pairing with Kashgar to develop new commercial sections of the city such as the Guangzhou New City or the Kashgar Economic Development Zone, which aims to replicate Shenzhen. Shenzhen was also deeply involved in developing Kashgar's tourist industry, despite not being a major heritage tourism destination. These developments significantly alter the cityscape, but Kashgar's remoteness from oceanic transportation creates doubts about whether it can replicate Shenzhen's success. ²¹⁸



Computer image design of Kashgar Economic Development Zone, 2015, © China Daily

While there are Uyghur architects creating developments aimed at Uyghur customers, they perceive themselves as discriminated against due to the fact Han control administrative posts and they do not have the "guanxi" connections necessary to obtain construction licenses and building permits. One middle class Uyghur told Madlen Kobi that the Hotan museum was originally going to be designed by a Uyghur architect, but the government did not approve the Uyghur design elements. He went on to say that "there are many rich [Uyghur] people in Hotan who would like to build special buildings with Uyghur characteristics, but the government does not allow them to do so."

Han architect Wang Xiaodong designed both the Urumqi bazaar and led the redevelopment of Kashgar "Old Town." These constructions are designed by Chinese architects aimed at Chinese tourists who wish to see something exotic, not "Mandarin speaking middle-class Uyghurs living in apartments." They are also often built by companies from elsewhere. The Shandong Construction Company provided the bricks used in the bazaar, a deal believed by Uyghurs in

Urumchi to have been facilitated by corruption by then Party-Secretary Wang Lequan, who offered tenders to companies from his native province. Within their modern apartments, many Uyghurs maintain traditional elements in decorative woodwork and layout of rooms, but the traditional techniques listed as ICH are no longer in widespread use. The reconstructed houses of the Kashgar Old Town are made of concrete and steel rebar, not the traditional adobe and tamped earth. The only traditional elements that remain are the façades designed to look like adobe and brickwork. The urban renewal brought with it not only the destruction of the physical houses but the social networks that they shaped and sustained, itself an important intangible facet of ethnic identity.



The Reconstruction of Kashgar's Old Town, using modern techniques and an "adobe" façade ©Zhongguo Jingjiwang

The Use of Folklore

Specific items of folklore relating to the Xinjiang Uyghur Autonomous Region have also been placed on China's national level list of intangible cultural heritage. In certain cases, the items chosen can be interpreted as an attempt to bolster claims that the region has been part of China since ancient times. This can particularly be seen in the case of the legends of the Queen Mother of the West, a Taoist deity who is presented in official histories as historical or quasi-historical. She is described meeting the ruler of the Zhou dynasty, King Mu, as an equal, and is associated with the Kunlun Mountain, in myth described as a paradise where she grows immortality-granting peaches. In officially approved histories the Queen Mother of the West is "often described as an historical ruler rather than as a mythological deity, and her realm is depicted as one of the tributary states of the Zhou Empire," with her home placed in modern-day XUAR.²²²

The official narrative presented in local museums conflates XUAR with the Western Regions over which she ruled, and her dwelling place as beside the Tianchi Lake outside of Urumchi, where a Taoist temple to her was built in 1999 on the site of a Buddhist nunnery built in 1923 according to official media reports. Her meeting with the legendary King Mu of Zhou represents an "effort to push back the first contact between peoples of the Central Plains and Xinjiang back through the centuries," and to frame it as peaceful exchange rather than conquest, according to historian Alessandro Rippa. Even Chinese historians who doubt the historicity of the Queen Mother of the West assert that "the travel geography recalled in the text must be historically correct." The Urumqi museum does not explore the westward origins of the most ancient cultures of the region, cultures which the official narrative links to the myth of the Queen Mother of the West. The museum's true examination of history only begins with the Han dynasty, with the date of 59 BCE, the "beginning of the Western Han Dynasty Governing the Western Region." This presentation is in service of a political agenda, as Rippa points out. Modern use of the Queen Mother of the West legend is intended to create narrative of the region belonging to China before even the Han dynasty presence.

The Legend of the Queen Mother of the West is listed as an item of ICH from the Xinjiang Uyghur Autonomous Region, despite other locations laying claim to it, such as the temple on her purported birthplace in Gansu, ²²⁶ or Qinghai. ²²⁷ The reconstructed temple serves as a tourist attraction; the local government instituted a cultural festival at the lake after the myth was inscribed as national level ICH in 2014 featuring Chinese customs and local singing and dancing performances. Reports from the time went out of the way to note that the audience included Uyghurs and that the event represented ethnic intermingling. ²²⁸ The annual event also includes Taoist ceremonies featuring hundreds of worshippers in hanfu. ²²⁹ Participants were gathered by festival organizers from across the northwest, and could win free transportation and lodging. ²³⁰ The contrast of an artificial "Chinese" festival with compensated participants stands in sharp contrast to the banned shrine festivals of the Uyghurs.



"Taoist worshipers" at the Queen Mother of the West Festival, 2016 © Tianshan

The Tianchi Lake tourist bureau even planted peach trees in the vicinity to match the story, despite climactic challenges, and have developed a biannual peach festival. Together these serve to create the Xiwangmu "cultural brand." The 2012 peach festival's major show, "Meeting at Lake Yao," was a performance of the story of Xiwangmu's meeting and romance with King Mu, reminiscent of the opera about Princess Wen Cheng's marriage to the king of Tibet, but with even less basis in historical fact. ²³³



Performance of "Meeting at Lake Yao" at the 2012 Lake Peach Festival © Tianshan



Above: Film Poster for Shanghai Animation Studio's new Äpändi film, ©Wangyi News Below: Plans for Apandiland ©Tencent

There are also items of Uyghur folklore on the national list of ICH, namely the stories of Näsirdin Äpändi, a figure who appears in folklore across Central Asia and the Middle East as well as East Turkestan. A trickster figure, his "stories reinforce a Uyghur self-image of irreverence for those in positions of power, and valorize the use of witty retorts and disdain for protocol in public settings," according to Nathan Light.²³⁴ In addition to being another example of the Chinese authorities listing traditions that have transnational and non-Han significance as Chinese intangible cultural heritage, they also are serving as fodder for the cultural industry and tourism strategy. Apandiland, a theme park outside of Kashgar, features a performance space for darwaz (tightrope walking, another Uvghur item on the national ICH list), rides, a bazaar and garden; in sum, a Uyghur-themed Disneyland. 235 The first phase was scheduled to open in 2015, and was constructed with aid from the Guangdong government.²³⁶ In 2016 a cartoon based on the stories was financed by aid money from Shanghai, as part of the Belt and Road "Culture First" strategy, in hopes of appealing to cultures where the tales are popular.²³⁷

The purpose of this report is not to argue for the accuracy of one historical narrative over another but to demonstrate that the official narrative serves the government's interests in the region. The history and mythology of East Turkestan can only be approached from the official

position, preventing Uyghurs from examining their own history and making their own art. Forbidding historical research is a violation of their cultural rights in addition to their rights to free speech. China's national Intangible Cultural Heritage Law passed in 2011 also placed restrictions on foreigners conducting research on ICH, who must get approval at the provincial level, partner with a Chinese ICH institution and turn over all their findings. These rules make conducting academic research challenging, even on topics not at first glance sensitive, and contribute to the information blackout in the region.

Conclusion

The preservation of Uyghur intangible cultural heritage and ensuring that its future development and evolution lies in Uyghur hands, faces a serious challenge in the form of the dominance of the cultural sphere by Chinese authorities. The CCP reserves the right to define Uyghur cultural identity in everything from music and dance to clothing and architecture. The state has the goal of assimilating Uyghurs into the Chinese "cultural mainstream," leaving Uyghur cultural expression to serve either as a medium for state propaganda or as a tourist attraction, which serves both to make profit from it and to draw the region further into the control of the center. Political considerations are once again key to the creation of art in China; as Xi Jinping stated at the 19th Party Congress, "Ideology determines the direction a culture should take and the path it should follow as it develops."

The Chinese government has reasserted control over the realm of culture and intends to use it as a tool to advance its own interests. This is not a new phenomenon. The scholar June Teufel Dreyer argued in 1993 that "cultural development carried on by the party and government on behalf of minorities seems to be acceptable, whereas cultural development carried out by minorities on their own behalf seems unacceptable." Only "minority culture under the direct control of party and government is celebrated; all other manifestations thereof are regarded with utmost suspicion." Her description of China's minority cultural policy as "pluralist in form but assimilationist in function" fits the Uyghur case very well. Even as the government promotes the "form" of Uyghur culture as a tourism resource, the assimilationist function has only accelerated in recent decades, and in the last few years has gotten to the point of promoting wearing hanfu and celebrating Chinese New Year, in addition to transforming the meshrep into a platform for propaganda campaigns.

The listing of two items of Uyghur intangible cultural heritage on the UNESCO List of Representative Works and on the List of Items in Need of Urgent Safeguarding has done little to preserve them. As critics like Laurajane Smith point out, the Convention for the Safeguarding of Intangible Cultural Heritage has an "inability to deal meaningfully with concepts of community," and leads to a professionalized bureaucracy taking control of culture instead of community members. This is certainly what has happened in the Chinese case. The requirement the UNESCO operate through state parties rather than sub-national groups means that the state is given the authority to put forward and oversee items of heritage, often of marginalized minority groups. Communities are an important part of the Convention, but UNESCO leaves it up to states to define what a community is. The Convention requires "consultation" but does not define what consultation is. If the community cannot meaningfully dissent from the official line, as is the case in repressive contexts like that in East Turkestan, then consultation cannot in any sense be a meaningful negotiation, making it "simply an exercise in canvassing opinion." "242"

The apolitical stance that UNESCO takes is problematic because its project is inherently political, as it "is daily engaged in political acts of recognizing and/or misrecognising claims to

identity and cultural diversity."²⁴³ In the Uyghur case, by listing Muqam and Meshrep as pieces of Chinese intangible cultural heritage, it is giving legitimacy to the Chinese government's claim to the right to control Uyghur cultural production without any concern for the current repressive political situation. China presents its micromanagement of Uyghur cultural expression as evidence for its support and preservation of it, even touting it as a human rights achievement. Cultural expression is not a "living fossil" but instead an important part of people's identities, which inevitably change with the times. As Rachel Harris stated in her assessment of the meshrep for UNESCO, "[1]ocal manifestations of meshrep are living traditions, transmitted from generation to generation, and they have the potential to be updated and recreated in response to the changing environment and social realities."²⁴⁴ As of now, these changes solely take the form of the government dictating to Uyghurs how they will be performed, and solely to serve the government's interests.

UNESCO must take seriously these issues if it wishes to ensure that the ICH of marginalized minority peoples are truly preserved. This is doubly important in the cases of states like China, which explicitly plans to use these cultures as a resource to pursue political goals. Because China is powerful and closely engaged in working with UNESCO, it has the potential to affect the future of international cultural policies. UNESCO should do more to ensure that sub-national communities and the bearers of heritage have a true voice in the proceedings.

The transformation of Uyghur cultural sites and the ICH associated with them into tourist attractions are another concern given Uyghurs' limited control over their development and profits. Uyghurs' lack of freedom of speech, assembly and religion and their lack of political representation mean that they have no way to have a voice in the development and use of these "cultural resources." An influx of large numbers of tourists can create fundamental transformations in the meaning and performance of culture as it is transformed into a product for consumption by outsiders. As scholar of Chinese tourism Tim Oakes notes, "the national project of manufacturing traditional, yet commercialized, minzu culture tends to construct folk culture primarily as a performance" in the manner of the official song-and-dance troupes, while stripping it of its original significance. This can be seen in the case of the banning of shrine festivals which served as an important context for many of the items of officially listed Uyghur ICH and now marketed to tourists, or in the meshrep whose importance derived from its community-led nature, now transformed into televised performances by professionals or vehicles for CCP propaganda.

Uyghurs should not be left out of decisions involving their own cultural products, let alone prevented from performing them entirely as in the case of shrine festivals or music which does not meet official approval. The UNESCO program for protecting Intangible Cultural Heritage is intended to preserve the conditions which allow the ICH to be performed or made and to protect cultural diversity. But the Chinese government's explicitly assimilationist policy and center led program of producing art, developing heritage sites for tourism and inventing new heritage

events while banning traditional ones present the greatest challenge to this goal. The Chinese government has long been open with its belief that it has the right to manage cultural expression down to the lowest level; the brief period of freedom which opened up for the Uyghurs in the 1980s soon ended, and it appears that a new period of even stricter management has been developed.

UNESCO makes explicit reference to human rights in the preamble to the Convention for the Safeguarding of Intangible Cultural Heritage, listing those international human rights declarations and conventions which include cultural rights. It also states that its purpose is to promote the importance ICH in efforts to maintain cultural diversity and sustainable development. By controlling and banning Uyghur cultural expression, China fails to abide by the requirements of the human rights principles listed in international conventions including individual freedoms of speech, assembly and religion that are vital to any meaningful protection of ICH. China also fails to contribute to the goal of maintaining cultural diversity by actively undermining the roots of Uyghur culture and attempting to assimilate Uyghurs into a state-defined Chinese identity. The Chinese government's cultural projects do not facilitate cultural exchange and understanding on the basis mutual respect and equality, nor do they help preserve cultural diversity, UNESCO's overarching goals.

Recommendations:

For UNESCO and other international cultural bodies:

Consider possible consequences for state parties to the Convention for the Safeguarding of the Intangible Cultural Heritage who fail to abide by international human rights instruments as referred to in its preamble, particularly when those rights violations touch on the very ICH items which UNESCO has listed as in need of protection. These may include not engaging in projects and activities with nations whose official policies fail to meet international human rights norms.

To this end, UNESCO should develop a review mechanism with a focus on the human rights aspects of safeguarding ICH, to be carried out by the Intergovernmental Committee for the Safeguarding of the Intangible Cultural Heritage.

Strengthen the intangible heritage instrument's engagement with grassroots and sub-national groups, particularly focusing on member states with poor track records on abiding by the human rights principles necessary to ensure that ICH items are genuinely protected.

Put greater emphasis on the conditions necessary to truly preserve ICH items, namely freedom of speech, religion, and assembly. Bring heritage bearers and NGOs more directly into the process of the inscription and protection of ICH items at the international level and ensure that practitioners can use their own language during the process.

Send the UN Special Rapporteur for cultural rights to East Turkestan to investigate the situation and prepare a report for the General Assembly on the current situation of Uyghur cultural rights and their intersection with human rights broadly defined.

For the Chinese Government:

Create the conditions to allow Uyghurs to enjoy their cultural rights as listed in Article 27 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, and elaborated on in Article 15 of the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights, including the right to participate in the cultural life of the community, to enjoy the arts and to share in scientific advancement and its benefits, and the right to the protection of the moral and material interests resulting from any scientific, literary or artistic production.

Sign and implement the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights and implement Article 27, ensuring that Uyghurs are not denied the right, in community with the other members of their group, to enjoy their own culture, to profess and practice their own religion, or to use their own language.

Abide by the principles of Article 1 of the Declaration on the Rights of Persons Belonging to National or Ethnic, Religious and Linguistic Minorities, namely protecting the existence and the national or ethnic, cultural, religious, and linguistic identity of minorities within their respective territories and encourage conditions for the promotion of that identity. ICH is an important facet

of protecting these principles, which can be done by ending restrictions on groups of Uyghurs assembling for events such as traditional festivals or community-organized meshrep; allowing Uyghur performing artists to make their art without oversight from censors; and fostering conditions where Uyghurs can utilize their own language in school, business, government, and art.

Ensure that Article 3 of the Declaration on the Rights of Persons Belonging to National or Ethnic, Religious and Linguistic Minorities Persons is implemented. This means ensuring Uyghurs have the right to participate effectively in decisions on the national and regional level and ensuring the cultural policies involving Uyghur heritage are guided by Uyghurs at the grassroots level. This can be achieved by ensuring that Uyghurs have sufficient representation at all government levels necessary to ensure that any policy decisions have meaningful Uyghur input; and by ensuring Uyghurs' right to establish and maintain their own associations is protected.

Implement Article 4's requirements regarding non-discrimination and equality before the law by ending the system of arbitrary detention, particularly the re-education camps; by creating favorable conditions for Uyghur culture to flourish and facilitating education on Uyghur culture in the Uyghur language.

While formulating intangible cultural heritage policies follow the requirements laid out in the UNESCO Convention for the Safeguarding of the Intangible Cultural Heritage namely Article 15, which requires the State Party "endeavour to ensure the widest possible participation of communities, groups and, where appropriate, individuals that create, maintain and transmit such heritage, and to involve them actively in its management."

Acknowledgements:

The author would like to thank all those who contributed their expertise to this report, including Dr. Rachel Harris (SOAS, University of London). The author also thanks the staff members of the Uyghur Human Rights Project who provided guidance and support during the writing of this report.

Finally, thanks are due to the National Endowment for Democracy for supporting UHRP's work in documenting human rights abuses in East Turkestan.

Nicole Morgret Uyghur Human Rights Project Washington, D.C June 2018 ² UNESCO (1989, November 15) Recommendation on the Safeguarding of Traditional Culture and Folklore Retrieved from: http://portal.unesco.org/en/ev.php-

URL ID=13141&URL DO=DO TOPIC&URL SECTION=201.html

- ³ Kurin, Richard (2004, June 24) "Safeguarding Intangible Cultural Heritage in the 2003 UNESCO Convention: a critical appraisal" Museum International Vol. 56, Issue 2 Retrieved from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1350-0775.2004.00459.x
 ⁴ Ibid.
- ⁵⁵ Kirshenblatt-Gimblett, Barbara (2004, June 24) "Intangible Heritage as Metacultural Production" Museum International Vol. 56, Issue 2 Retrieved from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1350-0775.2004.00458.x
- ⁶ Vrdoljak, Ana Filipa (2005) "Minorities, Cultural Rights and the Protection of Intangible Heritage" European Society for International Law Research Forum on Contemporary Issues
- ⁷⁷ UN Declaration of the Rights of Persons Belonging to National or Ethnic, Religious and Linguistic Minorities Retrieved from: http://www.ohchr.org/EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/Minorities.aspx
- ⁸ UNESCO Universal Declaration on Cultural Diversity (2001, November 2) Retrieved from: http://portal.unesco.org/en/ev.php-URL_ID=13179&URL_DO=DO_TOPIC&URL_SECTION=201.html
- ⁹ UNESCO (2005) "Convention on the Protection and Promotion of the Diversity of Cultural Expressions" Retrieved from: http://en.unesco.org/creativity/sites/creativity/files/passeport-convention2005-web2.pdf
- ¹¹ UNESCO "Intangible Cultural Heritage Domains in the 2003 Convention" Retrieved from: https://ich.unesco.org/en/1com
- ¹² Kirshenblatt-Gimblett, Barbara (2004, May) "Intangible Heritage as Metacultural Production" Museum International http://www.nyu.edu/classes/bkg/web/heritage MI.pdf
- ¹³ Kirshenblatt-Gimblett, Barbara (2004, May) "Intangible Heritage as Metacultural Production" Museum International http://www.nyu.edu/classes/bkg/web/heritage MI.pdf
- ¹⁴ Lixinski, Lucas (2001, February 1) "Selecting Heritage: The Interplay of Art, Politics and Identity" European Journal of International Law, Volume 22, Issue 1 https://academic.oup.com/ejil/article/22/1/81/436556
- ¹⁵ Selected Works of Mao Tse-tung (1942, May) "Yan'an Forum on Literature and Art" Retrieved from: https://www.marxists.org/reference/archive/mao/selected-works/volume-3/mswv3 08.htm
- ¹⁶ Kraus, Richard Kurt (2004, April) "The Party and the Arty: the New Politics of Culture" Rowman & Littlefield Publishers
- ¹⁷ 新华社 (2015, October 14) (授权发布) 习近平: 在文艺工作座谈会上的讲话 Retrieved from: http://www.xinhuanet.com/politics/2015-10/14/c 1116825558.htm
- ¹⁸ Canves, Sky (2015, October 26) "Xi Jinping on What's Wrong with Contemporary Chinese Culture" Chinafile Retrieved from:
- http://www.chinafile.com/reporting-opinion/culture/xi-jinping-whats-wrong-contemporary-chinese-culture
- ¹⁹ Blau, Rosie (2018, January) "Now for cultural supremacy: Another area where China aims to be number one" the Economist
- ²⁰ UNESCO "Elements on the Lists-China" Retrieved from: https://ich.unesco.org/en/state/china-CN?info=elements-on-the-lists
- ²¹ Lu, Tracey L.D. (2016, December) "The Management of Intangible Cultural Heritage in China" Routledge Companion to Intangible Cultural Heritage ed. Peter Davis and Michelle Stefano, Taylor and Francis
- ²² Holbig, Heike and Maags, Christina (2016, March) "Replicating Elite Dominance in Intangible Cultural Heritage Safeguarding: the Role of Local Government Scholar Networks in China" International Journal of Cultural Property Vol. 23 Issue 1
- ²³ Lu, Tracey L.D. (2016, December) "The Management of Intangible Cultural Heritage in China" Routledge Companion to Intangible Cultural Heritage ed. Peter Davis and Michelle Stefano, Taylor and Francis
- ²⁴ Holbig, Heike and Maags, Christina (2016, March) "Replicating Elite Dominance in Intangible Cultural Heritage Safeguarding: the Role of Local Government Scholar Networks in China" International Journal of Cultural Property Vol. 23 Issue 1

¹ Kurin, Richard (2004, June 24) "Safeguarding Intangible Cultural Heritage in the 2003 UNESCO Convention: a critical appraisal" Museum International Vol. 56, Issue 2 Retrieved from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1350-0775.2004.00459.x

²⁵ China Heritage Quarterly (2006, September) "Approaching the Past: Preparing an Inventory of Intangible Cultural Heritage Properties" Retrieved from: http://www.chinaheritagequarterly.org/editorial.php?issue=007
The State Council of the People's Republic of China (2014, August 20) "Intangible Cultural Heritage Law of the

People's Republic of China" Retrieved from:

http://english.gov.cn/archive/laws_regulations/2014/08/23/content_281474982987416.htm

²⁷ Bodolec, Caroline (2012) "The Chinese Paper Cut: from Local Inventories to the UNESCO Representative List of the Intangible Cultural Heritage of Humanity" in Heritage Regimes and the State ed. Regina Bendix, Aditya Eggert, Arnika Peselmann Universitätsverlag Göttingen

²⁸ Bodolec, Caroline (20123, July 2) "The Chinese Paper Cut: From Local Inventories to the UNESCO Representative List of the Intangible Cultural Heritage of Humanity" in Heritage Regimes and the State ed. Regina Bendix, Aditya Eggert, Arnika Peselmann, Universitätsverlag Göttingen

- ²⁹ Holbig, Heike and Maags, Christina (2016, March) "Replicating Elite Dominance in Intangible Cultural Heritage Safeguarding: the Role of Local Government Scholar Networks in China" International Journal of Cultural Property ³⁰ 文化部网站 (2009, September 15)"文化部国家旅游局关于促进文化与旅游结合发展的指导意见"中央政府门户网站 Retrieved from: http://www.gov.cn/zwgk/2009-09/15/content_1418269.htm
- ³¹ CPC Central Committee (2011, October 18) "Decision of the CPC Central Committee on Major Issues Pertaining to Deepening Reform of the Cultural System and Promoting the Great Development and Flourishing of Socialist Culture" English Section of the Central Document Translation Department of the Central Compilation and Translation Bureau Retrieved from: http://www.cctb.net/bygz/wxfy/201111/W020111121519527826615.pdf
 ³² Ibid

³³ Xinhua (2018, March 13) "China to merge ministry of culture, tourism administration" Retrieved from: http://www.xinhuanet.com/english/2018-03/13/c 137035525.htm

- ³⁴ Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the People's Republic of China (2014, March 28) "Speech by H.E. Xi Jinping President of the People's Republic of China At UNESCO Headquarters" Retrieved from: http://www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa eng/wjdt 665385/zyjh 665391/t1142560.shtml
- ³⁵ 天山网原创(2017, October 1)"【喜迎十九大•文脉颂中华】新疆非物质文化遗产保护与传承相映成辉" Retrieved from: http://news.ts.cn/content/2017-10/01/content 12841410.htm
- ³⁶ 新华网新疆频道(2017, April 11) "坚定文化自信讲好中国故事:全国政协调研组来疆调研" Retrieved from: http://www.xjzsw.gov.cn/html/news/xinjiang/2017-04-11/30391.html
- ³⁷新华网新疆频道(2017, April 11) "坚定文化自信讲好中国故事:全国政协调研组来疆调研" Retrieved from: http://www.xizsw.gov.cn/html/news/xinjiang/2017-04-11/30391.html
- ³⁸ 高志敏(2017, May 18)"坚定文化自信 讲好新疆故事"新疆政府网 Retrieved from: http://www.xinjiang.gov.cn/2017/05/18/130525.html
- 强大精神动力"新疆日报 Retrieved from: http://www.xj.xinhuanet.com/2017-04/18/c_1120829161.htm
 ⁴⁰ 贾春霞(2017,April 18)"《致维吾尔族同胞的公开信》在我区文艺界引发热烈反响为实现总目标凝聚强大精神动力"新疆日报 Retrieved from: http://www.xj.xinhuanet.com/2017-04/18/c_1120829161.htm
- ⁴¹ Harris, Rachel (2008, January 1) "The Making of a Musical Canon in Central Asia: the Uyghur Twelve Muqam" Ashgate Publishing
- ⁴² Millward, James, (2009) "Positioning Xinjiang in Eurasian and Chinese History: Differing visions of the "Silk Road" in China, Xinjiang and Central Asia: History, Transition and Cross Border Interaction Into the 21st century ed. Colin Mackerass and Michael Clarke, Routledge
- ⁴³ Millward, James, (2009) "Positioning Xinjiang in Eurasian and Chinese History: Differing visions of the "Silk Road" in China, Xinjiang and Central Asia: History, Transition and Cross border interaction into the 21st century ed. Colin Mackerass and Michael Clarke
- 44 (2009) "Xinjiang Uyghur Muqam" Ministry of Culture, PRC http://en.chinaculture.org/focus/focus/2009feiyi/content 363106 2.htm
- Wong, Cheun-Fung (2009, July) "The Value of Missing Tunes: Scholarship on Uyghur Minority Music in Northwest China" Fontes Artis Musicae Vol. 56, No. 3
- ⁴⁶ Wong, Cheun-Fung (2009, July) "The Value of Missing Tunes: Scholarship on Uyghur Minority Music in Northwest China" Fontes Artis Musicae Vol. 56, No. 3

⁴⁸ Light, Nathan (2008) "Intimate Heritage: Creating Uyghur Muqam Song in Xinjiang" Halle Studies in the Anthropology of Eurasia, Max Planck Institute for Social Anthropology

⁵⁰ Harris, Rachel (2009) "National Traditions and Illegal Religious Activities Among the Uyghurs" in Music and the Play of Power in the Middle East, North Africa and Central Asia ed. Laudan Nooshin, Ashgate Publishing

⁵¹ Light Nathan (2007) "Cultural Politics and the Pragmatics of Resistance: Reflexive Discourses on Culture and History" in Situating the Uvghurs Between China and Central Asia ed. Ildiko Beller-Hann, M. Cristina Ceasaro and Joanne Smith-Finley, Routledge ⁵² Ibid.

⁵³ Wong, Chuen-Fung (2016, June 29) "The West is Red: Uyghur Adaptation of The Legend of the Red Lantern (Qizil Chiragh) during China's Cultural Revolution" in Listening to China's Cultural Revolution: Music, Politics, and Cultural Continuities ed. Laikwan Pang, Paul Clark, Tsan-Huang Tsai Palgrave Macmillan

⁵⁴ Rees, Helen (2002) "Cultural Policy Music Scholarship, and Recent Developments" in The Garland Encyclopedia of World Music: East Asia: China, Japan, and Korea ed Robert C. Provine, Yosihiko Tokumaru, J. Lawrence Witzleben Routledge

⁵⁵ Harris, Rachel (2016, December 5) "The Uyghur Muqam" in the Music of Central Asia, ed. Theodore Levin, Saida Daukeyeva, Elmira Köchümkulova, Indiana University Press

⁵⁶ Wong, Cheun-Fung (2009, September) "The Value of Missing Tunes: Scholarship on Uyghur Minority Music in Northwest China" Fontes Artis Musicae Vol. 56, No. 3

⁵⁷中央政府门户网站(2010, August 3)"新疆立法保护维吾尔木卡姆艺术 10月1日起实施" http://www.gov.cn/jrzg/2010-08/03/content 1670486.htm

⁵⁸The State Council Information Office of the People's Republic of China (2017, June 1) "Human Rights in Xinjiang: Development and Progress"

http://english.gov.cn/archive/white_paper/2017/06/01/content_281475673512156.htm

⁵⁹ UNESCO "Meshrep: Inscribed in 2010 on the List of Intangible Cultural Heritage in Need of Urgent Safeguarding" Retrieved from https://ich.unesco.org/en/USL/meshrep-00304

⁶⁰ Beller-Hann, Ildiko (2008) "Community Matters in Xinjiang, 1880-1949: Towards a Historical Anthropology of the Uyghur" Brill

⁶¹ Harris, Rachel (2008, January 1) "The Making of a Musical Cannon in Central Asia: the Uyghur Twelve Muqam" Ashgate Publishing

⁶² Chun In Pyong (2010, August 17) "Report on the examination of nomination files no. 00304 for inscription on the List of Intangible Cultural Heritage in Need of Urgent Safeguarding in 2010" UNESCO

⁶³ Harris, Rachel (2010, August 10) "Report on the examination of nomination files no. 00304 for inscription on the List of Intangible Cultural Heritage in Need of Urgent Safeguarding in 2010" UNESCO Retrieved from: www.unesco.org/culture/ich/doc/download.php?versionID=06371
 The Cultural Department of the Xinjiang Uyghur Autonomous Region "Clarification to the Report on the

Examination of Nomination Files N. 00304 for Inscription on the List of Intangible Cultural Heritage in Need of Urgent Safeguarding in 2010" UNESCO Retrieved from:

www.unesco.org/culture/ich/doc/download.php?versionID=07602

65 中共新疆艺术学委员会(2014, July 8)"新艺党(2014)16号 关于贯彻落实自治区党委《关于抵御和 防范宗教向校园渗透的意见》的实施意见"Retrieved from:

http://wmw.xjart.edu.cn/s/55/t/58/20/aa/info8362.htm

66 陕西师范大学保卫处"非法宗教活动26种表现"Retrieved from:

http://gac.snnu.edu.cn/neiye_show.aspx?id=1226

⁶⁷观察者网(2014, December 24)"新疆局地组织民众识别75种宗教极端活动"Retrieved from: http://news.sina.com.cn/c/2014-12-24/093231321497.shtml

⁶⁸ Harris, Rachel (2014, October 9) "Reflections on the Uyghur Meshrep" George Washington University Central Asia Program Retrieved from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=F4zfzFIv9Ww

⁶⁹ Dautcher, Jay (2009) "Down a Narrow Road: Identity and Masculinity in a Uyghur Community in Xinjiang China" Harvard University Press

⁷⁰ Ibid.

⁴⁷ Rees, Helen (2002) "Cultural Policy Music Scholarship, and Recent Developments" in The Garland Encyclopedia of World Music: East Asia: China, Japan, and Korea ed. Robert C. Provine, Yosihiko Tokumaru, J. Lawrence Witzleben, Routledge

⁷¹ Ibid.

⁷³ Dautcher, Jay (2009) "Down a Narrow Road: Identity and Masculinity in a Uyghur Community in Xinjiang China" Harvard University Press

⁷⁴ Ibid

⁷⁵ Bai Tiantian (2017, April 6)"New book introduces Uyghur culture" Global Times Retrieved from: http://www.globaltimes.cn/content/1041116.shtml

′6 Ibid.

⁷⁷ Tianshan (2008, January 11) "The Charms of Singing and Dancing," Retrieved from: http://english.ts.cn/topic/content/2008-01/11/content_2389626.htm

⁷⁸ Harris, Rachel (2008, January 1) "The Making of a Musical Canon in Central Asia: the Uyghur Twelve Muqam" Ashgate Publishing

⁷⁹ Brophy, David (2015, February 16) "Little Apples in Xinjiang" the China Story, Retrieved from: https://www.thechinastory.org/2015/02/little-apples-in-xinjiang/

⁸⁰ Harris, Rachel (2008, January 1) "The Making of a Musical Canon in Central Asia: the Uyghur Twelve Muqam" Ashgate Publishing

⁸¹ Wong, Chuen-Fung (2013, January 30) "Singing Muqam in Uyghur Pop: Minority Modernity and Popular Music in China" Popular Music and Society Vol. 36, Issue 1

⁸² Brophy, David (2015, February 16) "Little Apples in Xinjiang" the China Story, Retrieved from: https://www.thechinastory.org/2015/02/little-apples-in-xinjiang/

⁸³ Harris, Rachel (2009) "National Traditions and Illegal Religious Activities Among the Uyghurs" in Music and the Play of Power in the Middle East, North Africa and Central Asia ed. Laudan Nooshin

⁸⁴ Cheng, Tingting (2006) "In Search of Sufi Musicians in the XUAR" China Rights Forum No. 4, Human Rights in China Retrieved from: https://www.hrichina.org/sites/default/files/PDFs/CRF.4.2006/CRF-2006-4_Musicians.pdf
⁸⁵ Ibid.

⁸⁶ Harris, Rachel (2017, May 18) "Islamic Extremism, song and dance, and sonic territoriality" Sounding Islam in China Retrieved from: http://www.soundislamchina.org/?p=1646
⁸⁷ Ibid.

88 Ibid.

89 Sounding Islam in China (2015, March 25) "Imams dancing to "Little Apple" in Uch Turpan, Xinjiang" Retrieved from: http://www.soundislamchina.org/?p=1053

90 最后一公里 (2014, August 27) "独家 | 维吾尔老人: 我为什么跳"小苹果"" 天山网 Retrieved from: http://www.ts.cn/homepage/content/2014-08/27/content 10459614.htm

⁹¹新疆都市报 / 天山网 (2014, August 28) 泽普版《小苹果》维吾尔族白胡子老人忘情起舞蹿红网络 Retrieved from: http://news.ts.cn/content/2014-08/28/content_10463517_all.htm

⁹²天山网(2014, October 23)"南疆首个5A景区泽普金湖杨国家森林公园游客井喷"Retrieved from: http://travel.ts.cn/content/2014-10/23/content_10642026.htm

93 买合丽娅"重返巴楚一个维吾尔人的南疆行纪"凤凰网 Retrieved from http://news.ifeng.com/mainland/special/xjqjdh/bc.shtml

94 天山网(2015, March 23) "新疆麦盖提县万人刀郎舞、刀郎小苹果舞迎春(高清组图)" Retrieved from: http://xj.ts.cn/2015-03/23/content 11130769 all.htm

⁹⁵中国喀什网(2017, July 6) "喀什地区举行"扬威震慑 武装拉动"反恐维稳誓师大会"Retrieved from: http://www.zgkashi.com/ks/201707/t20170706 41023.html

⁹⁶ 柴天喜, 刘梦华 (2016, November 25) "麦盖提: 刀郎大地盛开民族团结之花"喀什政府信息网Retrieved from: http://www.kashi.gov.cn/Item/36824.aspx

⁹⁷ 张彦林 李银成(2017, June 19) "送文化下基层"丰富团场职工群众文化生活"新疆兵团第三师四十四团 Retrieved from: http://44t.xjbtnss.gov.cn/zhengwuxinwen/zhongyaoxinw/20170601/49795.html

⁹⁸ Reuters (2015, September 16) "China teaching troops folk dances to make friends in Xinjiang" Retrieved from: https://www.reuters.com/article/us-china-xinjiang/china-teaching-troops-folk-dances-to-make-friends-in-xinjiang-idUSKCN0RG0GX20150916

⁹⁹天山网(2016, August19)"莎车县举行万人"唱国歌、练太极"活动"http://news.ts.cn/content/2016-08/19/content_12235929_all.htm

http://news.ts.cn/content/2016-08/19/content 12235929 all.htm

⁷² Amnesty International (1999, April) "Gross Violations of Human Rights in the Xinjiang Uyghur Autonomous Region" Retrieved from: https://www.amnesty.org/download/Documents/144000/asa170181999en.pdf

- ¹⁰⁰ 世界太极拳网(2017, November 4)"太极文化在喀什大放异彩——千名维吾尔族中学生展示中华民 族传统太极文化"http://www.sohu.com/a/202386724 164390
- ¹⁰¹ Wong, Chuen-Fung (2013, January 30) "Singing Muqam in Uyghur Pop: Minority Modernity and Popular Music in China" Popular Music and Society
- ¹⁰² Smith-Finley, Joanne (2013, September 9) "The Art of Symbolic Resistance: Uyghur Identities and Uyghur-Han Relations in Contemporary Xinjiang" Brill
- ¹⁰³ Harris, Rachel (2017, November 1) "Uyghur 'Dutar King' Detained in China" Free Muse Retrieved from: https://freemuse.org/news/uyghur-dutar-king-detained-in-china/
- ¹⁰⁴ Smith-Finley, Joanne (2013, September 9) "The Art of Symbolic Resistance: Uyghur Identities and Uyghur-Han Relations in Contemporary Xinjiang" Brill
- Byler, Darren (2017, June 14) "Ablajan and the Subtle Politics of Uyghur Pop" Art of Life in Chinese Central Asia https://livingotherwise.com/2017/07/14/ablajan-subtle-politics-uvghur-pop/
- 106 Hoshur, Shoret (2018, May 18) "Popular Uyghur Singer's Whereabouts Unknown, Believed Detained in Xinjiang Re-Education Camp" Radio Free Asia https://www.rfa.org/english/news/uyghur/singer-05182018131924.html
- ¹⁰⁷ de Jong, Frederick (2017, November 13) "Uvghur Texts in Context: Life in Shinjang Documented from Public
- Spaces" Brill
 ¹⁰⁸ Bovingdon, Gardner (2010, June 25) "The Uyghurs: Strangers in their Own Land" Columbia University Press ¹⁰⁹ Harris, Rachel (2005, September) "Reggae on the Silk Road: the Globalization of Uyghur Pop" the China
- Bequelin, Nicholas (2004) "Criminalizing Ethnicity: Political Repression in Xinjiang" China Rights Forum No. 1 Human Rights in China Retrieved from:
- https://www.hrichina.org/sites/default/files/PDFs/CRF.1.2004/b1_Criminalizing1.2004.pdf
 Human Rights Watch (2005, April) "Devastating Blows: the Religious Repression of Uyghurs in Xinjiang" https://www.hrw.org/reports/2005/china0405/china0405.pdf
 112 Smith-Finley, Joanne (2013, September 9) "The Art of Symbolic Resistance: Uyghur Identities and Uyghur-Han
- Relations in Contemporary Xinjiang" Brill
- 113任华(2017, October 3)"【发声亮剑】坚定不移地围绕总目标 筑牢文化意识形态领域的坚固防线" Xinjiang Ministry of Culture Retrieved from:
- http://www.xjwh.gov.cn/index.php?m=content&c=index&a=show&catid=809&id=22085
- 114<u>新华网新疆频道</u> (2017, April 4) "坚定文化自信讲好中国故事:全国政协调研组来疆调 http://www.xjzsw.gov.cn/html/news/xinjiang/2017-04-11/30391.html
- Reyhan, Dilnur (2018, January 24) "L'industrie culturelle ouïghoure : des origines à la chute en 7 ans" Novastan https://www.novastan.org/fr/region-ouighoure/lindustrie-culturelle-ouighoure-des-origines-a-la-chute-en-7-ans/
- ¹¹⁷ 中国网(2017, October 12) "新疆举办最接地气"快闪"活动 体现人民生活幸福感" Retrieved from: http://www.xinhuanet.com/politics/2017-10/12/c 1121794478.htm
- Smith-Finley, Joanne (2015, December 4) "Whose Xinjiang? Space, place and power in the rock fusion of Xin Xinjiangren Daolang" in Inside Xinjiang: Space, Place and Power in China's Northwest ed. Anna Hayes, Michael Clarke
- ¹¹⁹ 中国新闻网(2017, August 11)"新疆国际大巴扎"快闪"歌舞展现新疆和谐之"Retrieved from: http://www.xj.chinanews.com/zhuangao/20170511/14553.shtml
- ¹²⁰ Smith-Finley, Joanne (2013, September 9) "The Art of Symbolic Resistance: Uyghur Identities and Uyghur-Han Relations in Contemporary Xinjiang" Brill
- 121 http://www.zgkashgar.com/sxdt/201608/t20160808 22924.html
- 122 中国喀什网(2017, July 1)"纵情歌唱我们亲爱的祖国——喀什地区首届农牧民红歌大赛侧记之一" Retrieved from: http://www.zgkashi.com/ks/ksljl/201707/t20170707 41243.html
- ¹²³ Atawulla, Tahirjan and Hesen, Ayimgul (2017, December 12) "Qishtiki Illiqliq oqughucilarning qelbini illitti" ZhongguoKashiwang Retrieved from: http://www.zgkashgar.com/ks/201712/t20171218 51436.html

```
<sup>124</sup> Zhao Yusha (2017, December 13) "Xinjiang students organized to learn Confucian Analects, socialist values"
Global Times Retrieved from: <a href="http://www.globaltimes.cn/content/1080072.shtml">http://www.globaltimes.cn/content/1080072.shtml</a>
<sup>125</sup> 张迎春(2016, December 14) "新疆 "流动博物馆" 越来越接地气"中央统战部网站 Retrieved from: <a href="http://www.zytzb.org.cn/tzb2010/s1485/201612/6fd30c43d1164e2494c02a569fcc3225.shtml">http://www.zytzb.org.cn/tzb2010/s1485/201612/6fd30c43d1164e2494c02a569fcc3225.shtml</a>
<sup>126</sup> Qu Qiyan and Li Ruohan (2018, January 8) "Xinjiang history education provides foundation for core values in
new era: expert" Global Times Retrieved from: http://www.globaltimes.cn/content/1083914.shtml
<sup>127</sup> Bai Yun (2017, July 4) "China Xinjiang International Dance Festival: New Attraction Along the Belt and Road"
Youlin Magazine Retrieved from: https://www.youlinmagazine.com/story/china-xinjiang-international-dance-
128 刘晓燕 (2017, June 2) "《丝路上的中国梦——永远的麦西热甫》大型歌舞剧在中央党校上演"学习时报 Retrieved
from: http://news.ifeng.com/a/20170602/51191620 0.shtml
129中国经济时报 "麦西热甫"助力"一带一路"文化先行"国务院新闻办公室网站 Retrieved from:
http://www.scio.gov.cn/31773/35507/35514/35522/Document/1531526/1531526.htm
<sup>130</sup>姜浩峰(2017, August 16) "文化,让上海和新疆精准连通"新民周刊 Retrieved from:
http://lib.shutcm.edu.cn/news2/View.aspx?id=30914
131 文化部网站 (2016, December 28) "文化部"一带一路"文化发展行动计划 (2016-2020年)" 国务院
新闻办公室网站 Retrieved from:
http://www.scio.gov.cn/xwfbh/xwbfbh/wgfbh/35861/36653/xgzc36659/Document/1551344/1551344.htm
132 人民网旅游频道 (2017, January 19)"新疆:打造具有丝绸之路特色的国际精品线路和旅游产品"
Retrieved from: http://travel.people.com.cn/n1/2017/0119/c41570-29035857.html
133新疆维吾尔自治区人民政府办公厅(2016, August 5)"关于转发自治区文化产业发展专项规划(2016—2020
年)的通知"新疆政府网 Retrieved from: http://www.xinjiang.gov.cn/2016/08/05/64987.html
<sup>134</sup>姜浩峰(2017, August 16)"文化,让上海和新疆精准连通"新民周刊 Retrieved from: <a href="http://lib.shutcm.edu.cn/news2/View.aspx?id=30914">http://lib.shutcm.edu.cn/news2/View.aspx?id=30914</a>
  Thum, Rian (2014, October) "The Sacred Routes of Uyghur History" Harvard University Press
136 Harris, Rachel "National Traditions and Illegal Religious Activities Among the Uyghurs"
<sup>137</sup> Dawut, Rahile (2016) "Ordam Mazar: A Meeting Place for Different Practices and Belief Systems in Culturally
Diverse Xinjiang" in Kashgar Revisited: Uyghur Studies in Memory of Ambassador Gunnar Jarring Koninklijke
Brill
138 Ibid.
<sup>139</sup> Harris, Rachel (2016, April) "National Traditions and Illegal Religious Activities Among the Uyghurs" in Music
and the Play of Power in the Middle East, North Africa and Central Asia ed. Nooshin, Laudan Routledge
<sup>140</sup> 佟明彪(2017, June 26) "吐鲁番乘热星期沙疗残叶"中国经济网 Retrieved from:
http://www.ce.cn/cysc/newmain/yc/jsxw/201706/26/t20170626 23872355.shtml
<sup>141</sup> Thum, Rian (2014, October) "The Sacred Routes of Uyghur History" Harvard University Press
Horshur, Shoret, Kamberi, Dolkun and Lipes, Josh (2009, April 2) "Uyghurs Targeted Over Desert Prayers"
Radio Free Asia Retrieved from: <a href="https://www.rfa.org/english/news/uyghur/uyghurstargeted-04022009162642.html">https://www.rfa.org/english/news/uyghur/uyghurstargeted-04022009162642.html</a>
<sup>143</sup> Harris, Rachel (2016, April) "National Traditions and Illegal Religious Activities Among the Uyghurs" in Music
and the Play of Power in the Middle East, North Africa and Central Asia ed. Nooshin, Laudan Routledge
<sup>144</sup> Dawut, Rahile and Anderson, Elise (2016, December 5) "Dastan Performance among the Uyghurs" in the Music
of Central Asia ed. Theodore Levin, Saida Daukeyeva, Elmira Köchümkulov Indiana University Press
Thum, Rian (2014, October) "The Sacred Routes of Uyghur History" Harvard University Press <sup>146</sup> 吐孙阿依吐拉克(2015,November 13)"'首届中国维吾尔族民间达斯坦国际学术研讨会'综述"中
```

国民族文学网 Retrieved from: http://cel.cssn.cn/xszl/kydt/201602/t20160219_2873154.shtml
¹⁴⁷ Dawut, Rahile and Anderson, Elise (2016, December 5) "Dastan Performance among the Uyghurs" in the Music of Central Asia ed. Theodore Levin, Saida Daukeyeva, Elmira Köchümkulov Indiana University Press

Thum, Rian (2014, October) "The Sacred Routes of Uyghur History" Harvard University Press

¹⁴⁹ Dautcher, Jay (2009) "Down a Narrow Road: Identity and Masculinity in a Uyghur Community in Xinjiang China" Harvard University Press

Thum, Rian (@RianThum) (2017, December 14) "At the shrine of Alp Ata ("Ghojam"), now protected by razor wire, where I was turned away by six men with clubs and shields yesterday. Surprising because most shrine closures have been at sites with large gatherings. Outside of Turpan, Xinjiang, PRC." Twitter Retrieved from: https://twitter.com/RianThum/status/941503519772655617

¹⁵¹ Dawut, Rahile (2007) "Shrine Pilgrimage and Sustainable Tourism Among the Uyghurs: Central Asian Ritual Traditions in the Context of China's Development Policies" in Situating the Uvghurs Between China and Central Asia Ashgate Publishers ¹⁵² Ibid.

- 153Thum, Rian (@RianThum) (2015, July 21) "Just found Jafar Sadiq shrine (near Niya) blocked by police. As far as I can tell, all Uyghur shrine festivals are now forbidden." Twitter Retrieved from: https://twitter.com/RianThum/status/623704836706430976
- 154 吐鲁番网 (2013, January 24) "吐鲁番传统维吾尔族村落——麻扎村" http://www.tlf.gov.cn/info/276/80464.htm
- Dawut, Rahile (2007) "Shrine Pilgrimage and Sustainable Tourism Among the Uyghurs: Central Asian Ritual Traditions in the Context of China's Development Policies" in Situating the Uyghurs Between China and Central Asia Ashgate Publishers

156 Ibid.

- ¹⁵⁷ 中国气象报社 (2018, February 14) "新疆: 到"亲戚"家过春节推进民族团结向纵深发展"Retrieved from: http://www.cma.gov.cn/2011xwzx/2011xgzdt/201802/t20180214 462513.html
- ¹⁵⁸华政(2016, February 8)【纪检人·镜头】刀郎人过春节 共话民族大团结"中央纪委监察部网站 Retrieved from: http://www.xinhuanet.com/politics/2016-02/08/c 128710400.htm
- 159杨林、孙少雄 (2017, January 30) "把年味带进南疆农村——新疆"访民情、惠民生、聚民心"驻村工 作队与南疆村民共庆春节" Retrieved from: http://www.xinhuanet.com/politics/2017-01/30/c 1120394790.htm 160杨林、孙少雄"把年味带进南疆农村——新疆"访民情、惠民生、聚民心"驻村工作队与南疆村民共庆春 节" Retrieved from: http://www.xinhuanet.com/politics/2017-01/30/c 1120394790.htm
- ¹⁶¹ Byler, Darren (2018, February 23) "Images in Red: Han Culture, Uyghur Performers, Chinese New Year" the Art of Life Chinese Central Asia Retrieved from: https://livingotherwise.com/2018/02/23/images-red-han-cultureuyghur-performers-chinese-new-year/
- ¹⁶² 辛闻(2018, February 6) "文化部:春节期间各级公共图书馆、博物馆将照常开放"中国网Retrieved from: http://news.china.com.cn/2018-02/06/content 50428276.htm
- ¹⁶³ 麦盖提零距离 (2018, February 13) "【喜迎春节】麦盖提:情暖福利园 欢喜迎新春" Retrieved from:

http://www.sohu.com/a/222646984 744897

- 164 新疆电视台 "新疆电视台春节联欢晚会" uploaded by the Art of Life Chinese Central Asia, Retrieved from: https://www.youtube.com/watch?time_continue=263&v=dyp9XL24bwE
- 165 新疆晨报 (2018, February 13)"新疆电视台2018年春晚新形式设7个分会场"Retrieved from: http://news.ifeng.com/a/20180213/56025242 0.shtml 166 Ibid.
- ¹⁶⁷ Byler, Darren (2018, February 23) "Images in Red: Han Culture, Uyghur Performers, Chinese New Year" the Art of Life Chinese Central Asia, Retrieved from: https://livingotherwise.com/2018/02/23/images-red-han-cultureuyghur-performers-chinese-new-year/
- ¹⁶⁸ 亚心网(2016, March 22) "新疆各地各族群众一起过"诺鲁孜节" 放大快乐迎春天" Retrieved from: http://news.ifeng.com/a/20160322/48071666 0.shtml
- 169 新疆大学驻村工作队 "传统节日助力"去极端化" 新疆大学驻村工作队组织庆祝诺鲁孜节"Retrieved from: http://sz.xju.edu.cn/info/1119/9135.htm
- ¹⁷⁰ Li Yang and Wall, Geoffrey (2014) "Planning for Ethnic Tourism" Routledge ¹⁷¹ Ibid.
- ¹⁷² 新浪城市(2017, November 24) "新疆巴楚:丝绸之路上民俗文化的"活化石"和"博物馆"" http://city.sina.com.cn/city/t/2017-11-24/141377405.html
- 173地区人力资源和社会保障局 (2017, July 31) "麦盖提县刀郎民俗旅游一条街盛大开" 喀什政府信息网 Retrieved from: http://kashi.gov.cn/Item/43155.aspx
- 174 喀什都市网 發表于旅游 (2017, September 26)"十一八天乐!喀什这有骑马射箭、采摘、烧烤、露天电影 、篝火晚会……小长假又多一个好去处!" Retrieved from: https://kknews.cc/zh-my/travel/m2pvyrg.html ¹⁷⁵ 李刚刚 ""丰裕天堂"一片好风光:伯什克然木乡脱贫攻坚工作纪实" 新疆日报讯 Retrieved from:
- http://news.ts.cn/content/2017-01/16/content 12479656.htm

- 176 张成学 (2017, July 3)"喀什地区旅游局开展"民族团结一家亲"结对认亲戚活动"喀什地区旅游局 Retrieved from: http://www.ksly.gov.cn/kashi/static/focusAttention/20170703/1886.html
- 177新疆维吾尔自治区旅发委 (2018, January 25) "加大安全督查力度 确保旅游行业安全有序" 中华人民共和国 国家旅游局 Retrieved from: http://www.cnta.gov.cn/xxfb/xxfb dfxw/xj/201801/t20180124 854617.shtml
- ¹⁷⁸ Xin Lin and Sulaiman, Eset (2017, June 5) China's Tourism Industry Ordered to Monitor, Report on Visitors to Xinjiang" Radio Free Asia Retrieved from: https://www.rfa.org/english/news/china/chinas-tourism-industryordered-to-monitor-report-on-visitors-to-xinjiang-05052017121134.html
- 179黄安伟 (2014, October 8) "新疆游客人数因安全形势恶化锐减" New York Times Retrieved from: https://cn.nytimes.com/china/20141008/c08xinjiang/
- ¹⁸⁰ Zhou Xin (2018, January 23) "China Focus: Stable Xinjiang sees robust tourism growth" Xinhua Retrieved from: http://www.xinhuanet.com/english/2018-01/23/c 136918149.htm
- ¹⁸¹自治区主席 雪克来提·扎克尔 (2018, January 22) 自治区政府工作报告(全文) Retrieved from: http://www.xj.xinhuanet.com/2018-01/28/c 1122328192.htm
- ¹⁸²自治区主席 雪克来提·扎克尔 (2017, January 15) 2017年自治区政府工作报告(全文) Retrieved from: http://www.xinjiang.gov.cn/2017/01/15/124071.html
 183 Nyiri, Pal (2002, February 21) "Between Encouragement and Control: Tourism, Modernity and discipline in
- China" in Asia on Tour: Exploring the rise of Tourism in Asia (ed. Tim Winter, Peggy Teo, T.C. Chueng) Routledge
- ¹⁸⁵ Beller-Hann, Ildiko "Situating Uyghur Life Cycle Rituals Between China and Central Asia" in Situating the Uyghurs Between China and Central Asia ed. Ildiko Beller-Hann, M. Cristina Ceasaro and Joanne Smith-Finley,
- ¹⁸⁶ Thum, Rian (2014) "The Sacred Routes of Uyghur History" Harvard University Press
- ¹⁸⁷ RFA (2002, June 4) "Chinese Authorities Burn Thousands of Uyghur Books" Retrieved from: https://www.rfa.org/english/news/85965-20020604.html

 188 Maiken, Julie (2014 September 19) "For China's Uighurs, knifings taint an ancient craft" LA Times Retrieved
- from: http://www.latimes.com/world/la-fg-c1-china-uighur-knives-20140917-story.html
- Summers, Josh (2016, June 16) "The Uyghur Knife and My Trip to Yengisar" Far West China Retrieved from: https://www.farwestchina.com/2016/06/uyghur-knife-yengisar.html
- 190 迪拉娜·扎克尔(2017, October 18) "国家级非物质文化遗产艾德莱斯惊艳上海时装周"兵团在线 http://www.btzx.com.cn/2017/10/18/ARTI1508316347929379.shtml
- Mullaney, Thomas (2010, November) "Coming to Terms with the Nation: Ethnic Classification in Modern China" University of California Press
- ¹⁹² Hayes, Anna (2015, December) "Space, Place and Ethnic Identity in the Xinjiang Regional Museum" Inside Xinjiang: space, place and power in China's Muslim far northwest, ed. Michael Clarke and Anna Hayes Routledge ¹⁹³天山网 (2014, May13) "新疆积极推进少数民族传统服饰标准化" Retrieved from: http://www.guancha.cn/local/2014 05 13 229261.shtml
- ¹⁹⁴UHRP (2014, May 16) "Attempt to standardize Uyghur traditional clothing latest excessive intrusion into personal religious lives of Uyghurs" Retrieved from:
- https://uhrp.org/press-release/attempt-standardize-uvghur-traditional-clothing-latest-excessive-intrusion-personal
- 195 Wei Xi (2017, August 2) "Uyghur man sets out to combat influence of religious extremists by restoring Xinjiang's past fashions" Global Times Retrieved from: http://www.globaltimes.cn/content/1059298.shtml
- 196 Gao, Helen (2015, July 6) "Young and Muslim in China's Tense Far West" Foreign Policy Retrieved from: http://foreignpolicy.com/2015/07/06/what-its-like-to-be-young-and-muslim-in-chinas-tense-far-west-uighur-
- xinjiang/
 197 Fay, Greg (2014, May 16) "Schools in East Turkestan Suppress Doppa Festival" Uyghur Human Rights Project Retrieved from: http://weblog.uhrp.org/schools-in-east-turkestan-suppress-doppa-festival/
- ¹⁹⁸RFA(2013, March 21) 新疆诺鲁孜节警提升戒备 禁维人习俗波及各单位 Retrieved from: https://www.rfa.org/mandarin/yataibaodao/shaoshuminzu/ql2-03212013104045.html
- Lam, Oiwan (2013, March 23) "Despite Bans, China's Uvghurs Wear Their Identity With Pride" Global Voices Retrieved from:https://globalvoices.org/2013/03/27/despite-bans-chinas-uvghurs-wear-their-identity-with-pride/

- ²⁰⁰ Sulaimen, Eset (2014, May 20) Xinjiang Police Open Fire at Protest Against Clampdown on Islamic Dress RFA Retrieved from: https://www.rfa.org/english/news/uyghur/dress-05202014202002.html
- Horshur, Shoret, Sulaiman, Esmet and Yang Fan (2014, July 29) "Dozens of Uyghurs Shot Dead in Riots in Xinjiang's Yarkand County" Radio Free Asia Retrieved from: https://www.rfa.org/english/news/uyghur/reports-07292014102851.html
- ²⁰² Carrico, Kevin (2017, August 29) "The Great Han: Race, Nationalism and Tradition in China Today" University of California Press
- ²⁰³ Yan, Alice (2017, October 21) "The Hanfu fashion revival: ancient Chinese dress finds a new following" South China Morning Post Retrieved from:
- http://www.scmp.com/news/china/article/2116289/hanfu-fashion-revival-ancient-chinese-dress-finds-new-following
- following
 204 陆绿(2016, October 20) "阿克苏: 乌什县依麻木镇国语小学"一定要让孩子学好国语!""阿克苏地委统战部 Retrieved from: http://www.xjtzb.gov.cn/2016-10/20/content 557842.htm
- ²⁰⁵ 吐尔洪·库尔班, 王四新(2017, June 3) "新疆拜城县举办"去极端化"文艺汇演"中国民生经济网 Retrieved from: http://www.msjjw.org/newsshow-3-40402-1.html
- ²⁰⁶ Zhao Yusha (2017, December 13) "Xinjiang students organized to learn Confucian Analects, socialist values" Global Times http://www.globaltimes.cn/content/1080072.shtml
- ²⁰⁷ 郭玲, 通讯员, 范永伟 (2017, September 30) "新疆这个幼儿园小朋友学京剧, 为国庆节准备自己的"礼物"" 新疆晨报Retrieved from: https://m.ifeng.com/shareNews?aid=cmpp 031200052240993
- ²⁰⁸ 刘若涵(2015, August 23) "维吾尔族小盆友穿汉服,呆萌人醉"最后一公里 / 天山网 Retrieved from: http://www.ts.cn/homepage/content/2015-08/23/content_11751364.htm
- ²⁰⁹ Sevardia, Sandra (2017, December 11) "维吾尔族小学生穿起汉服开启诵读去国学模式" China Digital Times Retrieved from:
- https://chinadigitaltimes.net/chinese/2017/12/%E3%80%90%E5%BC%82%E9%97%BB%E8%A7%82%E6%AD%A2%E3%80%91%E7%BB%B4%E5%90%BE%E5%B0%94%E6%97%8F%E5%B0%8F%E5%AD%A6%E7%94%9F%E7%A9%BF%E8%B5%B7%E6%B1%89%E6%9C%8D%E5%BC%80%E5%90%AF%E8%AF%B5%E8%AF%B5%E8%AF%B5%E8%AF%B5%E8%AF%BB%E5%9B%BD/210 Kobi, Madlen (20178, January 31) "Building transregional and historical connections: Uyghur architecture in
- ²¹⁰ Kobi, Madlen (20178, January 31) "Building transregional and historical connections: Uyghur architecture ir urban Xinjiang" Central Asian Survey
- ²¹² P. Reyhan (2017, June) "Kashgar: China's Erasure of Uyghur Presence" the Funambulist Retrieved from https://thefunambulist.net/kashgar-chinas-erasure-uyghur-presence-p-reyhan-text-edith-roux-photos
 ²¹³ Beller-Hann, Ildiko (2014, January 10) "The Bulldozer State: Chinese Socialist Development in Xinjiang" in
- ²¹³ Beller-Hann, Ildiko (2014, January 10) "The Bulldozer State: Chinese Socialist Development in Xinjiang" in Ethnography in Central Asia: Performing Politics ed. Madeline Reeves, Johan Rasanayagam, Judith Beyer Indianan University Press
- ²¹⁴ Ibid.
- ²¹⁵ Jacobs, Andrew (2010, November 14) "Aid Fuels Change of Fortunes Along the Silk Road" New York Times Retrieved from: http://www.nytimes.com/2010/11/15/world/asia/15kashgar.html? r=3
- ²¹⁶ Kobi, Madlen (20178, January 31) "Building transregional and historical connections: Uyghur architecture in urban Xinjiang" Central Asian Survey
- ²¹⁷ 石义胜,邓晓雄(2015, July 28)"深圳援疆助力喀什老城晋升5A景区"喀什市政府网 Retrieved from: http://www.xjkslc.com/Item/Show.asp?m=1&d=2894
 ²¹⁸ AFP (2017, September 3) "Ghost Cities haunt stability dream in far west China" Retrieved from:
- ²¹⁸ AFP (2017, September 3) "Ghost Cities haunt stability dream in far west China" Retrieved from: http://www.straitstimes.com/asia/east-asia/ghost-cities-haunt-stability-dream-in-far-west-china
 ²¹⁹ Kobi, Madlen (20178, January 31) "Building transregional and historical connections: Uyghur architecture in
- ²¹⁹ Kobi, Madlen (20178, January 31) "Building transregional and historical connections: Uyghur architecture in urban Xinjiang" Central Asian Survey
 ²²⁰ Ibid.
- Ross, Anthony (2012, June) "Development in the Xinjiang Autonomous Region: Spatial Transformation and the Construction of Difference in Western China" Stellenbosch University China Center Retrieved from: http://www0.sun.ac.za/ccs/wp-content/uploads/2012/07/Discussion-Paper-3-2012 rev.pdf
- Rippa, Alessandro (2013) "Re-Writing Mythology in Xinjiang: the Case of the Queen Mother of the West, King Mu and the Kunlun" the China Journal no. 71 the Australian National University

```
<sup>223</sup> Dong Chunyan (2015, December 29) "Heavenly Lake" China Today Retrieved from:
http://www.chinatoday.com.cn/english/life/2015-12/29/content_710575.htm
```

Rippa, Alessandro (2013) "Re-Writing Mythology in Xinjiang: the Case of the Queen Mother of the West, King Mu and the Kunlun" the China Journal no. 71 the Australian National University ²²⁵ Ibid.

²²⁶ Li Xiaoxu (2015, September 6) "Taiwan people come to worship goddess in Gansu" China Daily Retrieved from: http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/m/gansu/2015-09/06/content 21810248.htm

²²⁷央广网(2016 September 29) 青海湟源挖掘西王母文化 打造昆仑文化承载地 Retrieved from: http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/interface/yidian/1138561/2016-09-29/cd 26938123.html

²²⁸天山网(2014,August 14) 首届新疆天山西王母文化庙会开幕 Retrieved from:

http://www.ts.cn/homepage/content/2014-08/14/content_10414876.htm

²²⁹ 天山网(2016, August 21) "第三届天山天池西王母(民间)文化庙会首日揽客1.5万人" Retrieved from: http://news.ts.cn/content/2016-08/21/content 12238789 all.htm

²³⁰李云辉 (2016, August 11) "寻找天山天池西王母庙会西王母祭拜典礼主祭" 昌吉新闻网 Retrieved from: http://www.cjxww.cn/index.php?m=content&c=index&a=show&catid=442&id=64245

²³¹天山网(2012, August 29) "新疆阜康第二届西王母瑶池蟠桃会盛大开宴" Retrieved from: http://news.ts.cn/content/2012-08/29/content 7180132.htm

²³²中国民俗学会秘书处(2012, September 4) "第二届西王母文化论坛在新疆天池举行" Retrieved from: http://iel.cass.cn/xszl/xscz/201209/t20120904 2756280.shtml

Denyer, Simon (2016, October 12)"A romantic opera in Tibet just happens to bolster China's historical position there" Washington Post Retrieved from: https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/worldviews/wp/2016/10/11/intibet-history-bows-down-before-propaganda-in-the-tale-of-a-royal-romance/?utm_term=.8b4e39c5c732

²³⁴ Light, Nathan "Uyghur Folklore" The Greenwood Encyclopedia of World Folklore and Folklife, ed. William M. Clements Westport, Conn. Greenwood Press, 2006. Vol. 2, pp. 335-346 ²³⁵ Cavell, Nic (2015) "China's Dream Parks" Dissent Magazine Retrieved from:

https://www.dissentmagazine.org/article/chinas-dream-parks

²³⁶中国喀什网"阿凡提乐园"Retrieved from: http://www.zgkashi.com/ly/lygl/201606/t20160617 14445.html ²³⁷ 上海缓疆网(2016, December 19) ""智慧阿凡提,浓浓喀什情"——援疆3D动画电影《阿凡提新传》 创作座谈暨新闻发布会在喀什举行"Retrieved from: http://sh.people.com.cn/n2/2016/1219/c369653-29483325.html

²³⁸ Congressional-Executive Commission on China (2011February 16) "Draft of Intangible Cultural Heritage Law Limits Research Activities; Xinjiang Case Study Shows Politicization of Heritage (Updated)" Retrieved from: https://www.cecc.gov/publications/commission-analysis/draft-of-intangible-cultural-heritage-law-limitsresearch

²³⁹ Xinhua (2017, October 18) "CPC to hold leading position in ideological work" Retrieved from: http://english.gov.cn/news/top_news/2017/10/18/content_281475912477276.htm

Dreyer, June (1993, February) "China's Political System: Modernization and Tradition" Palgrave Macmillan ²⁴¹ Smith, Laurajane, (2015, July) "Intangible Heritage: A challenge to the authorised heritage discourse?" Revista

www.raco.cat/index.php/RevistaEtnologia/article/download/293392/381920

242 Ibid.

²⁴³ Ibid.

²⁴⁴ Harris, Rachel (2010, August 10) "Report on the examination of nomination files no. 00304 for inscription on the List of Intangible Cultural Heritage in Need of Urgent Safeguarding in 2010" UNESCO Retrieved from: www.unesco.org/culture/ich/doc/download.php?versionID=06371
²⁴⁵ Oakes, Tim (2005, June 22) "Tourism and Modernity in China" Routledge

²⁴⁶ UNESCO (2003, October) "Text of the Convention for the Safeguarding of the Intangible Cultural Heritage" Retrieved from: https://ich.unesco.org/en/convention

UHRP Uyghur Human Rights Project

The Uyghur Human Rights Project (UHRP) was founded by the Uyghur American Association (UAA) in 2004 with a supporting grant from the National Endowment for Democracy (NED). UHRP's mission is to promote human rights and democracy for the Uyghur people. In 2016, UHRP became an independent 501(c)(3) nonprofit, tax-exempt organization.

UHRP works to raise the profile of the Uyghur people by:

Researching, writing and publishing commentary and reports in English and Chinese covering a broad range human rights issues involving civil and political rights, through to social cultural and economic rights; Preparing briefings – either written or in person – for journalists, academics, diplomats and legislators on the human rights situation faced by the Uyghur people.

The Uyghur Human Rights Project 1420 K Street N.W., Suite 350,

Washington, DC 20005
Tel: (202) 478-1920 Fax: (202) 478-1910
www.uhrp.org_info@uhrp.org